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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision

to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the

whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of
North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this

report misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the N XHIIAEBRBER M BREE 2 ¥4 - EE -
last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial BERESEE (JVEEEE TR KEZM BRI

statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below. EREEERTEY EHHME) -
RESULTS e

For the year ended 31st March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—BEo=F | 2o ofF T —F ZZZTHF  ZTNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHAT T AT
Revenue WA 2,266,642 2,445,150 2,358,611 3,021,718 2,397,010
Profit before tax B A& A 4,551 108,662 184,934 141,237 137,578
Income tax expense FreR (3,463) (28,869) (47,671) (30,261) (27,425)
Profit attributable N RIRR R FE (L
to the shareholders of il
the Company 1,088 79,793 137,263 110,976 110,153
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 5E  BERER
As at 31st March
R=B=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E=-= —E-—F —E-—fF —E-FTF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAT FABT FABxT
Total assets BE®ET 2,079,936 3,161,987 3,161,609 2,788,473 1,815,218
Total liabilities aEeE (644,600)| (1,714,545)  (1,916,542)  (1,700,009) (826,418)
Equity attributable to AR R FER
shareholders of the R
Company 1,435,336 1,447,442 1,245,067 1,088,464 988,800
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CHAIRLADY'S STATEMENT
ETEHES

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of North Asia Strategic
Holdings Limited (“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31st March 2023 (the “Year”).

Facing tremendous challenges during the Year, the Group managed
to record a consolidated net profit of approximately HK$1,088,000,

representing a decrease by 98.6% from last year.

NORMALISATION AFTER THE PANDEMIC

The COVID-19 pandemic has finally ended with the announcement by the
World Health Organization on 5th May 2023 that COVID-19 is no longer a
global health emergency. Like most countries around the world, China has
eased the pandemic measures and scrapped its strict zero-Covid policy
which caused a rebound of China economy shortly after the reopening of
border. However, the combined effect of geopoalitical factors and Russian-
Ukraine war and rising interest rates in the United States during the Year

have hindered the recovery of the global economy.

The Group’s high-tech distribution and services business was affected by
sluggish demand in global mobile phone market. However, we are seeing
an upward trend in the replacement of petroleum fueled vehicles by electric
vehicles and have benefitted from increased orders from leading electric
vehicle makers or their OEM manufacturers in China. While the total order
sizes are no comparable to those serving the mobile phone markets, these
increased orders compensated to some extent for the loss of orders from
mobile phone manufacturing customers. We are also seeing normalisation
in deliveries, after the order backlog due to semiconductor chip shortages
and global supply chain disruptions during the Year. The Group has
been able to fulfil more orders during the fourth quarter of the Year, when

measures for COVID-19 were scrapped.

The Group’s leasing business has been experiencing shrinking operating
lease orders for SMT machines and severe price competition due to poor

demand in mobile phone market.
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CHAIRLADY'S STATEMENT
ETEHES

STRENGTHENING OF BUSINESS

The Group has continued to upgrade its enterprise resource planning
(“ERP”) system during the Year for supporting the Group’s future business
growth and improving work efficiency. Since it became increasingly difficult
to recruit talent, the Group will leverage on IT transformation and deliver
more training to sales and service engineering staff teams to prepare for

future business expansion.

The Group will continue to adopt a prudent and low leverage policy while
seeking growth of its business. The Group will leverage on its listing status
to raise capital, if and when appropriate to address financing needs for its

future development and investment.

DIVERSIFICATION OF BUSINESS

For the long term development of the Group, the Group agreed to
acquire in a small online payment business operating under the “Jarvix”
brand in Hong Kong during the Year. The roll-out of consumer coupons
by the Hong Kong Government on electronic payment platform during
the COVID-19 pandemic not only stimulated the local economy but also
helped popularised electronic payments in Hong Kong. The Hong Kong
Government also plans to issue retail central bank digital currency (e-HKD)
in the future, which can provide the Group ample business opportunities

from more widespread of electronic payments.

OUTLOOK

The Greater Bay Area blue print of President Xi outlines the future for
growth and development for Hong Kong. With its headquarters in Hong
Kong and major operating units in Southern China area, the Group is
motivated and enthusiastic about the future of Hong Kong and its role
in the Greater Bay Area initiative. To further strengthen soft power of
Hong Kong, the Hong Kong Government has launched the “top talent
pass scheme” and received overwhelming response. The Hong Kong
Government has also proposed the “Northern Metropolis Strategy” and
“Lantau Tomorrow Vision” to complement the Greater Bay Area initiative.
The Group will proactively look for opportunities to increase investment in
line with the 14th five-year plan and Great Bay Area initiatives, through both
internal growth and external acquisition.
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OUTLOOK (Continued)

More and more companies are rethinking their subcontracting strategy
of outsourcing manufacturing in China due to the ongoing trade war
between China and United States. With the increasing risk of US-China
decoupling is accelerating, we are likely to see more manufacturers move
their manufacturing base outside China to Southeast Asia. Having foreseen
this risk, the Group has established offices in Southeast Asia countries and
will continue to expand its Southeast Asia countries sales and engineering

cohort to better respond to the needs of our customers.

A SOCIALLY RESPONSIBLE COMPANY

The long-term sustainability of the Group depends on its ability to maintain
a balance between its stakeholders. As a member of a community, the
Group believes that it is responsible not only to the Company’s shareholders
but also to other stakeholders such as its suppliers, customers, employees
and the society in which it operates and the government. The Group
has continued to support the Hong Kong Government’s initiative to
retain employment during pandemic and will continue to do so after the
pandemic. We support the thinking that an empowered employee will bring
long-term benefit to the Company and to the society. Therefore, the Group
has started a sponsorship program to encourage talented employees to
broaden their skills and is reviewing its remuneration policies to provide
better support and rewards to our staff for their long term commitment
and enhanced professionalism. In 2022, the Company was awarded “The
Eleventh Junzi Corporate Award” by the Hang Seng University of Hong
Kong for conducting its operations in accordance with the Confucian ethics
of “Five Virtues” referring to “Benevolence, Rightness, Propriety, Wisdom
and Trustworthiness”. The award encourages the Group in its continuous
effort in becoming a socially responsible company.

RE &)

HRPEEZERHE  HRBESARENERER
EEMIEIFRBIE S B RES o B RS E) R
EREME - BMATEEEINEZEERBLEESN
BRPBEERME - AR R - AEEERRBEE
BIRRIIMER - WAL ETR AR 5 BR 2 3
ERTREEG  AEHFRYEPHEX -

HUEERENLQFE

REEHRATFEZERDIURN LS HERR
NEZENTE - (EAHEN—8 - A5ERAE
TEEHARRREEE  NEHEMEHDE (F
WELRER - BF - BB RELEEZATE REUT)
BE AEBEETRESBNTEEBEHBORS
¥ BBITERERBREE - RMABEAEINE
BRARNRB R ST REANE - AL ASEEE
HEFEASBEFEEEAGS IR WIER
BIEETNBOCR - LB R EREBEL R
FRIRREAZEEKE - RZTZZF - XRAINAE
TERO[ATIEIMC £ & 8 5)EEE
Al AmMAESBSELERASREF+—EE
TR o WIAFRR B AN E BEEL K AY
HEAENRA -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F %}



CHAIRLADY'S STATEMENT
ETEBEE

APPRECIATION &)

Without the trust and support of our shareholders, customers, suppliers,  MERR - ZF  #HERF - 2=  TEERETH
fellow directors, management and staff, | could not have persevered and & RZHF - RANAIGEBRFRRAFEE 2 E5 %
to overcome the challenges during the Year. The financial and operational & - ISR EERE - FREE2EET - B8
performance are the direct results of years of relentless hard work of  EBEBKAREES L FRE N TROEEKR - N
our entire staff, management team and directors. | would like to take ~ AEREUEEREHESELNEHRBRIR - &
this opportunity to thank the directors for their long-term service and A7 EERIA B AEBRER N QT8I A4
commitment. | am also grateful for the support and guidance of the Listing ~ THISX#H RIEEBARLME -

Division staff who have been helpful in facilitating our corporate actions.

Zhang Yifan =
Chairladly R—R




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEWLR ST

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

During the Year, the Group recorded consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$2,266,642,000, representing a decrease of 7.3% from approximately
HK$2,445,150,000 last year. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to
the drop in revenue of direct machines sales from our hi-tech distribution

and services division by 6.8% compared with last year.

During the Year, the Group recorded consolidated net profit of
approximately HK$1,088,000, representing a decrease of 98.6% from
approximately HK$79,793,000 in last year. The Group’s gross profit
ratio decreased slightly from last year’s 16.2% to 14.7% in the Year.
The decrease in consolidated net profit of the Group was mainly due to

increase in supply chain costs and administration expenses.

The Group’s total operating cost during the Year increased by
approximately HK$45,834,000 or 15.4% from last year’s approximately
HK$298,443,000 to HK$344,277,000. The increase in operating expenses
was due to the depreciation of both the Japanese Yen and Renminbi
against the Hong Kong dollar. That contributed to net exchange loss of
approximately HK$26,306,000 by the Group during the Year, compared to
a net exchange gain of approximately HK$3,153,000 recorded last year.

Sluggish consumer electronic market caused most of the Group’s
customers to cut down or postpone their manufacturing equipment
acquisition plan during the Year. As evidenced by the manufacturing
Purchasing Manager Index (PMI) published by National Bureau of Statistics
of China, during the first 3 quarters from April 2022 to December 2022,
PMI were below 50 except for June and September at 50.2 and 50.1
respectively, reflecting contraction of the manufacturing industry during
first 3 quarters. During Q4, PMI rebounded to above 50 from January to
March 2023 with its highest at 52.6 for February 2023. That rebound did
not extend to later periods and has dropped below 50 again from April
2023 being a strong signal that the outlook of the manufacturing industry
remained pessimistic. In view of this, the Group will pay extra attention on

operating cost control under the worsening business environment.

The basic earnings per share in the Year was approximately HKO.3 cents,
representing a decrease of 98.6% from approximately HK21.9 cents in
last year. As at 31st March 2023, the consolidated net asset value of the
Company per ordinary share was approximately HK$3.16, representing a
decrease of HK$0.24 from approximately HK$3.40 as at 31st March 2022.

MBREBRER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Below is a summary of the financial and business highlights of our business
divisions. The profit/loss figures disclosed below do not include any intra-

group sales and charges, as they are eliminated upon consolidation.

HI-TECH DISTRIBUTION AND SERVICES DIVISION

The Group conducts its hi-tech distribution and services business through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, American Tec Company Limited (“AMT”).
AMT, a 30 plus years old firm is a leading distributor and after-market
service provider of surface-mount technology (“SMT”) equipment and
semiconductor manufacturing equipment in Asia. AMT has more than
270 professional engineers and customer care staff in more than 25
cities in China, Vietnam and India and other South-East Asia countries to
service the needs of its customers. Customers include most of the major
telecom and electronic equipment manufacturers in the world. AMT is
especially well positioned with its growing base of Chinese manufacturers.
Its suppliers include leading equipment and solutions manufacturers from

Asia, the United States and Europe.

During the Year, the division’s revenue was approximately
HK$2,130,305,000, representing a decrease of HK$208,835,000 or
8.9%, compared to approximately HK$2,339,140,000 in the last year.
The decrease in revenue was mainly due to sluggish demand in the global
mobile phone market which directly impact the Group’s mobile phone
manufacturing customers. The Group experienced significant decline in
orders during the first 3 quarters during which the customers have been
delaying or scaling down their procurement plans for manufacturing
equipment. China had eased the pandemic measures and scrapped
its strict zero-Covid policy in December 2022 and the disruptions in
component production and logistics were eased from the 4th quarter of the
Year. The customer orders received by the division in the 4th quarter of the
Year were rebound and the division was vigorously chasing the completion
of orders. From the exceptional effort put in by various operational teams
of the division, it managed to minimize the level of decrease in revenue for

the Year compared to last year.
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HI-TECH DISTRIBUTION AND SERVICES DIVISION
(Continued)

Direct machine sales revenue was approximately HK$1,968,076,000,
representing a decrease of HK$144,436,000 or 6.8%, compared to
approximately HK$2,112,512,000 in the last year. The division’s spare
part and software sales were approximately HK$82,218,000, representing
a decrease of HK$169,000 or 0.2%, compared to approximately
HK$82,387,000 in the last year. The sales support service, commission and
other services income was approximately HK$80,011,000, representing
a decrease of HK$64,230,000 or 44.5%, compared to approximately
HK$144,241,000 in last year. The decrease in high-margin sales support
services, commissions and other services was primarily due to a large
sales support service order placed last year by one of our major customers

for its new smartphone product line.

The division’s net profit for the year was approximately HK$60,594,000,
representing a decrease of HK$85,610,000 or 58.6% compared to
approximately HK$146,204,000 last year.

LEASING DIVISION

The Group conducts its leasing business through its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, North Asia Financial Leasing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“NAFL”) in
China Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone and Fuji North Asia Financial Leasing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“FNAFL”) in Qianhai Shenzhen-Hongkong Modern
Service Industry Cooperation Zone. The leasing division provides finance
and operating lease arrangements to customers of the Group’s hi-tech

distribution and services division and other projects.

The leasing business encountered a highly challenging operating
environment during the Year. Due to the prolonged impact of the COVID-19
pandemic and a decrease in consumer purchasing power, it resulted in
weakened demand for consumer electronic products. The supply chain,
production schedules of manufacturers and customer terms of equipment
rental became highly unstable and often disrupted, making them more
volatile and unpredictable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LEASING DIVISION (Continued)

The division generated revenue of approximately HK$136,337,000 during
the Year, representing a significant increase of 28.6% from approximately
HK$106,010,000 last year. In order to support business growth and
diversify revenue streams, various new areas have been developed this
Year, including the sale of machines related to the semiconductor industry
and the addition of different brands to our portfolio. The division recorded
sales of machineries at approximately HK$93,865,000 during the Year,
representing a 58.9% increase from approximately HK$59,066,000 last

year.

Despite the challenging operating lease business environment this Year, the
division maintained a reasonable utilization rate of its available machines
leveraging on our professional expertise and allocating resources to
meet the needs of our major customers who are small home appliances
and mobile phones manufacturers. However, the market has become
increasingly difficult due to rental price competition from other leasing
businesses competitors and second-hand machine dealers, resulting in
a higher volume of idle machines in the market. This led to approximately
50.6% year-on-year decrease in gross profit margin of the division’s
operating lease business in the Year. Revenue from operating lease
arrangements during the Year recorded approximately HK$35,049,000,
decreased by 6.8% from approximately HK$37,614,000 last year.

Despite the decline in demand from large customers and the effects of
risk control measures implemented, the division’s financing lease business
has shown slight growth. To further mitigate risks, we have diversified our
customer base to high-tech products with substantial growth potential, and
offered short-term (6-12 months) financing options, consistent with the goal
to minimize exposure to longer-term financing to ensure sustainable and
stable growth. During the Year, the interest income derived from finance
lease receivables decreased by approximately 20.4% to approximately
HK$7,423,000 in the Year from approximately HK$9,330,000 last year.
As at 31st March 2023, the aggregate principal amount of finance lease
receivables increased by 27.2% to approximately HK$78,350,000 from
approximately HK$61,583,000 at 31st March 2022. As risk management
remains a top priority, management will continue to maintain a conservative

approach in managing the Group’s exposure to finance lease business.
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LEASING DIVISION (Continued)

Although the division recorded revenue growth for the Year, the reduction
in profit margin has had a substantial impact on the division’s overall
financial performance. Consequently, the division recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$1,893,000 for the Year, compared to a net profit of
approximately HK$4,064,000 last year.

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT

On 21st December 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“SPA”) with Aigniter Holdings Limited (“AHL”), Algniter
Technologies Limited (*ATL”) and their affiliated companies, to acquire upon
the fulfilment of certain conditions precedent (i) AHL entire interest in Jarvix
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Jarvix”), (i) the Tech and IP Rights which ATL is
required under the SPA to assign to Jarvix at completion of the acquisition
and (jii) the ATL receivables, for an initial consideration of USD2,400,000
in cash subject to adjustments according to the terms of SPA. Jarvix is
principally engaged in operating the payment business (using the Tech and
IP Rights) which provides merchants with a payment solution that bridges
online payment acquirers (that operate payment platforms with a wide
range of credit card issuers) and such merchants. The Group’s proposed
acquisition of Jarvix was driven by the growth prospects of its business
which, post-acquisition, can contribute towards the diversification of the
Group’s revenue streams. Further details of the proposed acquisition were

disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 21st December 2022.

The acquisition of Jarvix was completed on 3rd April 2023 (“Completion”).
As a brief financial update, the unaudited turnover and loss (before and
after taxation) of Jarvix from its incorporation to 31st March 2023 was
approximately HK$20,011,000 and HK$2,430,000 respectively. During
this period, aggregate fees of approximately HK$6,966,000 were payable
by Jarvix to ATL (the unpaid portion of which will be included in the ATL
receivables) for the use of the Tech and IP Right (which form part of
the Acquistion) and this arrangement was terminated with effect from

Completion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK

Overall Summary

The COVID-19 pandemic finally came to an end with the announcement by
the World Health Organization on 5th May 2023 that COVID-19 is no longer
a global health emergency. Most countries have terminated their social
distancing and quarantine policies and expect economic recovery from the
impact of such policies in near future. In response to the pandemic and
geopolitical risks, we see a trend of diversification of manufacturing bases
outside China amongst our customers. In order to serve our customer,
management has also diversified and expanded its operations in Thailand

and Vietnam.

The Greater Bay Area blue print by President Xi outlines the future for
growth and development for Hong Kong. Since the Group is motivated
and optimistic about the future of Hong Kong and its role in the Greater
Bay Area initiative, it acquired the “Jarvix” online payment business in Hong
Kong to capture the local business opportunities. Going forward, the Group
will seek to continue to grow its business and to enhance the operational
efficiency of its various business divisions to improve their profitability and

increase shareholders’ value.
Hi-Tech Distribution and Services Division

Most countries have set a net-zero emission target by 2030. Some of these
countries have codified this target in their laws. To achieve this net-zero
emissions target, the Company expects to see the large-scale replacement
of petroleum fuelled vehicles with electric vehicles. The emerging electric
vehicle manufacturing industry creates new opportunities for the Group
since some of the Group’s major customers are leading electric vehicle

manufacturers, or their OEM manufacturers in China.

On the other hand, with the emergence of the metaverse that provides
new experience of virtual interaction in the 3D world in social networking,
entertainment, gaming, education and commerce, we expect to see more
investments on infrastructure building for more virtual reality and virtual
augmented equipped applications. Furthermore, ChatGPT (Al Chatbot by
OpenAl) suddenly became popular all over the world contributing to a new
wave of growth of the demand for Cloud server build on GPU platform.
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OUTLOOK (Continued)

Hi-Tech Distribution and Services Division (Continued)

These trends create ample opportunities for the semiconductor and SMT
industries. Some of the Group’s major customers are leading electric
vehicle manufacturers, telecommunication companies and OEM electronic
device manufacturers in China. They play a vital role in the metaverse
and electric vehicle transformation. The Group will strive to provide them

leading edge equipment and top notch service.

The International Monetary Fund (“IMF”) announced recently in its latest
World Economic Outlook published in April 2023 that the outlook is
uncertain again amid financial sector turmoil, high inflation, ongoing effects
of the Russia Ukraine conflict, and three years of COVID-19. IMF revised
down its projected world economy growth rate to 2.8% in 2023, which
is slightly lower than 2022 economic growth rate of 3.4%. According to
Canalys, smartphone shipments in the Q1 of 2023 fell by 13% to 269.8
million units compared to 311.2 million units in Q1 2022. This situation
was really disappointing given the early signs of recovery from the end
of pandemic. However, Canalys maintained its forecast of marginal
declines for 2023 and that the smartphone market will start to regain
momentum in the second half of 2023. In March 2023, the International
Data Corporation (IDC) Worldwide Quarterly Mobile Phone Tracker
predicted that the worldwide smartphone market will decline by 1.1% in
2023 to 1.19 billion units from 2022 shipments of 1.21 billion units, down
from 2.8% growth in its previous forecast, since the market continues to
suffer from weak demand and ongoing macroeconomic challenges. IDC
expects real recovery to occur from 2024, and from there shipments will
reach 1.37 billion units in 2027 representing a CAGR of 2.6%. Although
China reopening brought good news to the market, the outlook of the

smartphone industry is highly uncertain, resulting in cautious outlook.

The Group will continue to closely monitor its working capital, gross
margin, operating cost and industry developments with a view to
maintaining adequate cash flow, improving its results and achieving long-

term sustainability and growth of its business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK (Continued)
Leasing Division

The Group will remain very cautious on developing its leasing business
in 2023/24. The Chinese government has implemented measures to
stimulate the economy and consumption, such as in the new energy
vehicles, energy storage facilities and green energy development are
unlikely to offset the challenges faced by the leasing industry. These
challenges include the weak outlook for the manufacturing sector generally,
including huge excess capacity in the consumer electronics industry. Such
an operating environment has contributed to the leasing industry holding
a large inventory of leasing equipment in warehouses and being afflicted
by falling rental prices (in many cases to half of the peak rental rates in the

past few years).

Faced with a severe and uncertain market environment, the leasing division
will improve the leasing rate of equipment to speed up return of funds
through diversified operational leasing plans, such as increasing support
of lease-to-own plans. In addition, we also provide customers with value-
added services through independent research and development and
customized modification to reduce customers’ costs, and at the same
time maintain customer relations through our core competitiveness and

exclusivity.

For direct finance leases, we will increase risk control by diversifying
our business areas , focusing on high-tech products with good growth
potential, increasing the development of short-term (6-12 months) financing
business, and avoiding long-term direct finance lease business as much as

we can.

Considering the macro view of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, the situation
in the Taiwan Strait and the major uncertainties in Sino-US relations, as
well as the microscopic unfavorable factors such as overcapacity in the
electronics manufacturing industry, offshore transfers, uncertain Al policies
and lack of new product highlights in smart devices, our strategic business
planning will face more difficulties in the new financial year, and there will
be great uncertainties in our business development. Based on the principle
of prudence, we will on the one hand increase diversified cooperation with
our partners to improve the disposal and leasing rate of equipment, and
on the other hand, reserve sufficient funds and technologies to prepare for

opportunities arising from the crisis.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group generally finance its operation with internally
generated resources and banking facilities provided by its principal
bankers in Hong Kong. As at 31st March 2023, the Group had a secured
other borrowings of HK$1,800,000 (2022: HK$15,269,000), which are
denominated in RMB. As at 31st March 2023, the Group had banking
facilities of approximately HK$870,268,000 (2022: approximately
HK$876,084,000) from several banks for trade financing. As at 31st
March 2023, banking facilities of approximately HK$147,350,000 (2022:
approximately HK$279,776,000) were utilised by the Group. These facilities
were secured by corporate guarantees of approximately HK$1,130,270,000
(2022: approximately HK$931,437,000) provided by the Company.
As at 31st March 2023, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$2,079,936,000 (2022: approximately HK$3,161,987,000) and
total liabilities of approximately HK$644,600,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,714,545,000). The Group had net cash position as at 31st March
2023 and 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st March 2023, pledged deposits of HK$4,490,000 (2022:
HK$1,275,000) were held as security at a bank in respect of performance
bonds in favour of certain contract customers. The guarantees given by the
Group to certain banks in respect of performance bonds and standby letter
of credit in favour of certain contract customers and a supplier amounted
to HK$61,303,000 (2022: HK$58,151,000).

NET ASSET VALUE

Consolidated net asset value per ordinary share attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$3.16 as at 31st
March 2023, decreased by HK$0.24 from approximately HK$3.40 as at
31st March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31st March 2023, the Group employed 388 (2022: 375) staff.
Salaries and annual bonuses are determined according to positions
and performance of the employees. Remuneration policies are reviewed
annually by the management and remuneration packages are structured to
take into account the comparable level of the market. The Group provides
on-the-job training and training subsidies to its employees in addition
to pension schemes and medical insurance. Total staff costs including
contribution to retirement benefit schemes incurred during the year
amounted to approximately HK$194,215,000 (2022: HK$177,703,000).

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to Directors, employees and eligible participants
who contributed or will contribute to the Group. Details of the share option
scheme are set out in the Report of Directors under the section of “Equity-

Linked Agreements”.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Zhang Yifan

Ms. Zhang Yifan, aged 42, joined the Company in November 2014 as an
executive Director. She was further appointed as Chairlady of the Company
on 23rd June 2016. Her appointment was continued for another three
years commencing from 6th November 2020. Ms. Zhang had completed a
diploma in International Business from Shanghai Ocean University. She is
also the chairlady of nomination committee and a member of remuneration

committee of the Company.
Kenneth Kon Hiu King

Mr. Kenneth Kon Hiu King, aged 61, joined the Company in February
2018 as an independent non-executive Director. He was re-designated
as an executive Director on 23rd December 2021. His appointment was
continued for another three years commencing from 23rd December
2021. He was appointed as a director and deputy chief executive of Dan
Form Holdings Company Limited (“Dan Form”) in October 1994, and
was re-designated as its non-executive director in October 2012 until his
resignation on 22nd December 2016. Dan Form (now known as Asiasec
Properties Limited) is listed the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 271).
Between 1999 and 2007, Mr. Kon was also an independent non-executive
director of Jingwei Textile Machinery Company Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 350) until December 2015. Mr. Kon
has been involved in the planning of many large-scale investments and
development projects in the PRC and Hong Kong and has over 30 years’
experience in investment and management in manufacturing industries
and property development. He also has extensive experience in securities
trading, corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions and corporate
restructuring. Mr. Kon graduated from Middlesex University in the United
Kingdom with a Bachelor’s degree in Business Studies in 1987. Mr. Kon
is @ member of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of

the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming

Mr. Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming, aged 58, joined the Company in February
2015 as an independent non-executive Director. He was re-designated
as an executive Director on 24th February 2016 and further re-designated
as a non-executive Director on 9th February 2023. Upon Mr. Tsui’s re-
designation as an executive Director, he was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Group’s hi-tech distribution and services division
until his appointment as the Chief Executive Officer of this division on 9th
October 2017 till 9th February 2023. His appointment was continued for
another three years commencing from 9th February 2023. During the
period from 2006 to 2014, he was an executive director, the chief financial
officer and company secretary of International Mining Machinery Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 1683) until 2012. He has comprehensive operating and
financial experience in hi-tech distribution and services business. Mr. Tsui
obtained his Master’s degree in Accounting and Finance from the London
School of Economics & Political Science, UK and a Master’s degree in
Business Administration from University of Southern California, the United
States. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 1995 and the American Institute of Certified

Public Accountants since 1995.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEAEER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Joseph Liang Hsien Tse

Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse, aged 68, joined the Company in February
2013 as an independent non-executive Director. His appointment was
continued for another three years commencing from 19th February 2022.
He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of LifeTech
Scientific Corporation, a company previously listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (Stock code: 8122) and thereafter transferred to the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1302), with effect from 22nd
October 2011. On 2nd December 2021, Mr. Liang was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Cryofocus Medtech (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 30th
December 2022 (Stock code: 6922). Mr. Liang served as special consultant
on campus development at United International College (“UIC”) in Zhuhai,
the PRC since October 2011. He was the executive vice president —
Finance of TWS Industrial (Holdings) Ltd since 6th October 2011, a private
company engaged in battery production. He later acted as consultant
from August 2013 to December 2013. He returned to full time teaching as
associate professor at UIC on September 2013. Mr. Liang has extensive
experience in finance and accounting. From October 2009 to September
2011, Mr. Liang was the managing director of the financial planning and
development department at UIC and was responsible for serving financial
advisory and human resources management functions. During October
2005 to December 2008, he was a director at Shenzhen Alclear Consulting
Limited, a company engaging in financial, corporate management and
investment consultancy services, and was responsible for developing
accounting training in the PRC. Between August 2001 and October 2005,
Mr. Liang served various roles at Skyworth Digital Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 751), including as
the group’s financial controller and company secretary in charge of finance
and management information system functions. From November 1993
to August 2001, he was the finance manager at Hongkong International
Terminals Limited for Yantian International Container Terminals, both
companies being container terminal companies managed by the Hutchison
Port Holdings Trust. During the period from June 2014 to June 2015, Mr.
Liang was appointed as an independent non-executive director of China
Animal Healthcare Limited, a company previously listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock code: 940) until January 2020. Mr. Liang completed
a diploma in business management from Hong Kong Baptist College
in December 1977. He also obtained a Master’s degree in Professional
Accounting from University of Texas, Austin in May 1981. Mr. Liang later
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Language and Translation from Hong
Kong Open University (now known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University)
in December 2007. Mr. Liang has been a member of the Texas Society
of Certified Public Accountants since 1981 and a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1982. Mr. Liang is the
chairman of the audit committee and remuneration committee and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEBAEGER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Joseph Chan Nap Kee

Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee, aged 62, joined the Company in February 2013
as a non-executive Director. He was re-designated as an independent
non-executive Director on 4th March 2016, and further appointed as
an additional member of each of the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. His appointment
was continued for another three years commencing from 4th March
2022. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in commercial and
investment banking and asset management. He is a founding partner of
Oriental Patron Financial Group which was founded in 1993. He is also
an executive director of Oriental Patron Asia Limited and a non-executive
director of Oriental Patron Securities Limited. Mr. Chan was appointed as
an executive director of Kaisun Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM
(Stock code: 8203) in September 2008. He is currently the chairman and
executive director, member of remuneration committee and nomination and
corporate governance committee of Kaisun Holdings Limited. On social
services, Mr. Chan is a member of Hubei Provincial Political Consultative
Conference, chairman of Hong Kong Energy, Mining and Commodities
Association Limited, chairman of Silk Road Economic Development
Research Center and vice president of Federation of Hong Kong Hubei
Associations. Mr. Chan holds licenses of Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 4 (advising on securities), Type 6 (advising on corporate finance),
and Type 9 (asset management) under the SFO. He received Master of
Science Degree majoring in international marketing from the University of
Strathclyde, Bachelor of Science Degree in Aviation Management from
Coventry University and a Diploma in China Investment and Trade from

Peking University.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Cai Qing

Dr. Cai Qing, aged 35, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director in December 2021. She is the chief executive officer of
Hieroglyph Digital Technology Limited since November 2019, a professional
company focusing on crypto and blockchain technology and application.
Since June 2018, Dr. Cai has also been the research and strategy director
of GOSS Institute of Research Management Limited, a research institute
specializing in international studies, and applying Evidential Reasoning
(ER) rule to stock trading and private equity investment. Dr. Cai is an editor
of Crypto Review since September 2019, an e-journal providing views
from both academic and practical perspectives on the development and
application of blockchain technology and cryptocurrency. She has also
been an executive director of Feng Zikai International Cultural Association
since August 2018, a non-profit organization that promotes cultural
exchange by organizing international cultural activities on Master Feng
Zikai’'s art works and his humanistic thoughts. Dr. Cai has rich experience
in digital marketing and news reporting in multiple media agencies and
institutions including Hearst Magazine China, Xinhua News Agency
Shanghai Branch, MAMMA MIA! China Project, Shanghai International
Film Festivals Press Office, Jiefang Daily, etc. Dr. Cai has since January
2018 been a part-time lecturer of The University of Hong Kong where
she was responsible for designing the syllabuses and teaching courses
for Hong Kong Studies Program of The University of Hong Kong. From
June 2016 to July 2017, she was the convener of “Internet + SHE”:
Innovation and Development 2017 Forum Series which initiated and co-
organized two international forums in Shanghai and Beijing with Institute
of Contemporary Social Service, Research Center on Smart City of Peking
University, Information China, Shanghai Youth Daily Group and Shanghai
Normal University. Dr. Cai completed a Bachelor’s degree in Broadcasting,
Television and Journalism from Shanghai International Studies University
in 2010 and obtained an Intercultural Communication Training Certificate
from Intercultural Communication Institute in Portland, Oregon in 2012.
Dr. Cai later obtained a Master’s degree in Intercultural Communication
from Shanghai International Studies University since 2013 and a Doctor of
Philosophy in China Studies from The University of Hong Kong since 2018.
Dr. Cai is a member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and

nomination committee of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Li Zhen, Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Li Zhen, aged 51, joined the Company in December 2014. He is
responsible for the operations of leasing division. Mr. Li has over 20
years of experience in project management such as nuclear power
plant construction; and in particular he has rich experience in project
management, company daily operation, investment and financing
management. He holds a master’s degree in Business Administration from
Tsinghua University and a bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Nanhua

University.
Law Wai Fai, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Law Wai Fai, aged 55, joined the Company in June 2013. Mr. Law
has extensive professional experience in financial management, investor
relations, company secretarial and corporate governance, in particular
over 22 years of accounting and company secretarial experience at
listed companies in Hong Kong. He holds a master’s degree in Business
Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. He is also a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a

fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

The Company endeavours to maintain high standards of corporate
governance in the interests of shareholders, and follows the principles set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix
15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The Board will continue reviewing and updating its corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure compliance with applicable codes
and standards. The Company is committed to developing a corporate
culture that is aligned with its purpose, vision, strategy and value. The
Group’s employees have to thrive on the culture that enable the Company
to achieve long-term sustainability growth and maximize the value of the

shareholders and balance the interest of the stakeholders at the same time.

Purpose: To establish a leading one-stop service provider for customers,
merchants, electronic manufacturers and equipment suppliers.
Vision:  To be an expert service provider in future smart manufacturing

industry and community.

Strategy: Achieve long-term sustainability and maintain commitment to
responsibilities towards shareholders and stakeholders like
employees and suppliers and relevant local government.

Value:  Integrity, gender diversification, excellence in performance,

internal and external collaboration and professionalism.

Throughout the year ended 31st March 2023 (the “year”), the Company
complied with all the Code provisions with the exceptions addressed below
and, where appropriate, adopted the recommended best practices set out
in the Code.

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. However, the Board’s decisions are implemented under the
leadership of the Chairlady with the involvement and support of the chief
executive officer(s) and general manager(s) of the Company’s operating
companies. The Board believes that the balance of authority and division of
responsibility are adequately ensured by the operations of the Board and
management which comprise experienced and high calibre individuals.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealing set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “Required Standard”). Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the Required Standard
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding securities transactions

during the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31st March 2023, the Board comprised six Directors, with two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive Directors
represent more than one-third of the Board. The composition of the Board

during the year is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Zhang Yifan (Chairladly)
Kenneth Kon Hiu King

Non-Executive Director
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming (re-designated from executive Director to
non-executive Director on 9th February 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse

Joseph Chan Nap Kee

Cai Qing

Biographical details including changes of information of current Directors
are set out in the section of “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 19 to 24 to this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine overall strategic
direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim and annual results,
budgets and other significant matters. At least 14 days’ notice of regular
Board meetings are given to all Directors, who are all given an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for discussion. Apart from
formal meetings, matters requiring Board approval are also arranged by
means of circulation of written resolutions. Senior management from time
to time provides to the Directors information on activities and development
of the business of the Group. The company secretary takes detailed
minutes of the meetings and keeps records of matters discussed and

decisions resolved at the meetings.

The Directors can seek independent professional advice in performing
their duties at the Company’s expense, if necessary. According to the
current Board’s practices, should a potential conflict of interest involving
a substantial shareholder of the Company or Director arise, the matter is
discussed in a Board meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by written
resolution. Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest
should be present at meetings dealing with conflict issues. When the Board
considers any proposal or transaction in which a Director has a conflict of

interest, the Director should declare his interest and abstains from voting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

Sixteen Board meetings and one general meeting were held during the

year with an average attendance rate of 98% and 100% respectively.

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and the general

meeting are set out below:

=310 ))
EERRBRHFERER
RAFER - HETHRAREFEEEL —RKRE

RE FHHFEERD B AE98% K 100% - FEE H
FEESERABRRRS ZBEREINAT :

Directors’ attendance/meetings held

BESHE BTEEAY
Board Meetings General Meeting
EEgaEr BRERE
Executive Directors HITES
Zhang Yifan sR—iR 16/16 1/1
Kenneth Kon Hiu King TS 15/16 1/1
Non-executive Director FHITES
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming © TREERRO 16/16 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BAKHITES
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse RERR 16/16 1/1
Joseph Chan Nap Kee PRAZE 15/16 1/1
Cai Qing =g 16/16 1/1
Notes: Bi%E

0 Mr. Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming was re-designated from executive Director to non-

executive Director on 9th February 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Roles and responsibilities

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company.
They are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group
by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board is accountable
to shareholders for the strategic development of the Group with the goal
of maximizing long-term shareholders’ value, while balancing broader
stakeholder interests. Given the diversity and volume of the Company’s
business, responsibilities for execution and daily operations are delegated

to management.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The Board is of reasonable size and composition to provide
checks and balances that safeguard the interests of the shareholders and
the Company as a whole. All the Directors have given sufficient time and

attention to the Company’s affairs.

During the year, the executive Directors were responsible for the day-to-
day management of the Group’s operations. These Directors conducted
regular meetings with the senior management of the Company and its
subsidiaries, at which operational issue and financial performance were
evaluated. The non-executive Directors provided the Company with a wide
range of expertise and experience. They brought advice and judgment on
issues relating to the Group’s strategy, performance, risk and management
process, and corporate governance through their contribution at Board

and committee meetings.

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, newly appointed Directors
shall hold office until the next following general meeting and shall be eligible
for re-election at that meeting. Every Director, including those appointed for
a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once

every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board shall review the

implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on annual basis.

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company had at least
three independent non-executive Directors. Amongst the independent
non-executive Directors, at least one of whom had appropriate financial

management expertise.

According to code provision B.2.3 of the Corporate Governance Code, if
an independent non-executive director has served more than nine years,
such director’s further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the shareholders. For the year ended
31st March 2023, Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse has been appointed as
independent non-executive Director for more than 9 years since 2013.
The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
each of the existing independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. Taking into consideration of
three independent non-executive directors’ independent scope of work in
the past years, the Board considers all of them to be independent under
the guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules despite the fact that one
of them has served the Company for more than 9 years. Up to the date
of this report, the Board has not been aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that their independence has been
impaired. The three independent non-executive directors have confirmed
that they will continue to devote sufficient time for the discharge of their
functions and responsibilities as independent non-executive Directors. With
their background, the three independent non-executive directors are fully
aware of the responsibilities and expected amount of time dedicated to the
Company. Based on the foregoing, the Board believes that their positions
outside the Company will not affect them in maintaining their current roles
in, and their functions and responsibilities for the Company. The Board also
believes that their continued tenure will bring considerable stability to the
Board and the Board has benefited greatly from the presence of all of them

who have over time gained valuable insight of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Independence (continued)

The Board has completed the evaluation for the year ended 31st March
2023 on 21st June 2023. The Board considered that the implementation of

the mechanism was effective.

Continuing Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a comprehensive
induction package covering policy and procedures of the Company as well
as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a director to
ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to develop and

refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Directors are from time to time provided materials on amendments to
or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company
has been encouraging the Directors and officers to participate in a wide
range of professional development courses and seminars relating to the
GEM Listing Rules, applicable regulatory requirements and corporate
governance practices organized by professional bodies and/or independent

auditors to further improve their relevant knowledge and skills.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Continuing Professional Development (continued)

During the year, all Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by attending seminar relating to
corporate governance and regulations or by reading materials relevant to
their duties and responsibilities. The participation by individual Director

during the year is set out below:

=310 ))
FEEXBRE(E)

RAFEAR  2REFCEBHFAHEEER
ROz EAHEEREREREETZER 2
HEEREERRRAY NAFEAR  ERES
Z2EBERHHIAT

Read regulatory Attend conference/

updates/materials seminars/workshop

BIEEE HEEE

REFALE AR WaeE TS
Executive Directors HITES
Zhang Yifan GR—IA v v
Kenneth Kon Hiu King TFEES) v v
Non-executive Director FHITES
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming TREZEA v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse REEE v/ v/
Joseph Chan Nap Kee PRz E v/ 7
Cai Qing 2=H v v

Insurance

The Company arranges, and will review annually, appropriate insurance

cover in respect of legal against its Directors and officers.

CHAIRLADY AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Throughout the year, the Company had Ms. Zhang Yifan to assume the role
as the Chairlady of the Board, with no chief executive officer. The Board’s
decisions are implemented under the leadership of the Chairlady with
the involvement and support of the chief executive officer(s) and general
manager(s) of the Company’s operating companies. The Board believes
that the balance of authority and division of responsibility are adequately
ensured by the operations of the Board and management which comprise

experienced and high calibre individuals.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is for a period of three years unless
terminated by either party with one month’s written notice. All the non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general

meetings in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely nomination
committee, remuneration committee and audit committee. All these
committees have their respective terms of reference which accord with the
principles set out in the Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing

Rules.

Nomination Committee

During the year and up to the date of this report, the nomination committee
of the Company comprised of not less than five members at all the time,
and the majority of whom are independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse, Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee and Dr. Cai Qing;
Ms. Zhang Yifan, the Chairlady and an executive Director and Mr. Kenneth

Kon Hiu King, an executive Director.

The nomination committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or reappointment of directors, evaluation of
board size, structure and composition, management of board succession
with reference to the board diversity policy and certain guidelines including
appropriate professional knowledge and industry experience, personal
ethics, integrity and personal skills, and time commitments of member
and assessing the independence of non-executive directors. The Board
has adopted a set of the revised terms of reference of the nomination
committee which are aligned with the provisions set out in the Code. The
terms of reference of the committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available on both the websites of the Company and the
GEM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

During the year, the committee review the board composition, board
diversity policy and retirement of Directors by rotation and made
recommendations to the Board. Two meetings were held during the year
with an attendance rate of 100%. The attendance of each nomination

committee member during the year is set out below:

ExZER®)
REZEE(H)

RAFERN ZESRIEEFENEZAK  EF
EREZTTIBRNEEZRFESR  YRNEES
REEZH - ZFEANERTMASE HEXAR
100% ° RAFERN  SREEZEGNELFETRELZ
EREFINT

Nomination Committee

members’ attendance/

meetings held

REZEGHEHE

BITERRH

Zhang Yifan aR—1A 2/2
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse RERR 2/2
Kenneth Kon Hiu King TFEES 2/2
Joseph Chan Nap Kee PR 2/2
Cai Qing =5 2/2

Remuneration Committee

During the year and up to the date of this report, the remuneration
committee of the Company comprised of not less than five members at all
the time, namely Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse (who serves as the committee
chairman), Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee and Dr. Cai Qing, all being
independent non-executive Directors; Ms. Zhang Yifan, the Chairlady and
an executive Director; and Mr. Kenneth Kon Hiu King, an executive Director.
The Board has adopted a set of the terms of reference of the remuneration
committee which are aligned with the provisions set out in the Code. The
committee has adopted the model where it has delegated responsibility
to determine the remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management and make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration of the Non-executive Directors. The terms of reference of the
committee setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities are available

on both the websites of the Company and the GEM.

The remuneration committee is responsible for ensuring formal and
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policy and overseeing
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management. It takes into consideration of factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities, and

employment conditions of directors and senior management.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the committee meeting, the remuneration committee may
also deal with matters by way of circulation. During the year, the committee
discussed the remuneration package for the re-designated director,
assessed the performance of executive directors, reviewed and determined
the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management of the
Company, approved the terms of executive director’s service contracts;
and reviewed and approving matters relating to share option scheme. Six
meetings were held during the year with an attendance rate of 93%. The
attendance of each remuneration committee members during the year is

set out below:

FMHEEE (&)

BREREEERN FMZESTAIAEMNDAEE
FH -RAFEAN - ZBEETmATES 25 M
AR FHEHTESZRR R REEARAE
ERRREEABZHFIGE  HERTEZZR
Ba OGRS Rigst Rit/ERBBRETEIRESEE -
RAFERERITNRER  HFEXRH/IB% - KA
FERN SHHEZEENELFEERZBERETIM
T

Remuneration Committee
members’ attendance/

meetings held

FHESEREHE

BITERRH

Joseph Liang Hsien Tse 2R 6/6
Zhang Yifan R—MR 6/6
Kenneth Kon Hiu King FES 5/6
Joseph Chan Nap Kee PR 5/6
Cai Qing =5 6/6

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

For the year ended 31st March 2023, total Directors’ remuneration
amounted to approximately HK$25,158,000 (2022: HK$34,135,000).
Remuneration of the executive Directors is prudently designed to attract,
motivate and retain them to formulate strategies and to oversee operational
matters of the Group and to reward them for enhancing value to the
shareholders. Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year are

set out in note 8 to the accompanying financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) BEEZEE(H)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management (continued) EENEHNEBAEBZEHM (&)

The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management of RAFE BN FTAEESREEEKE (EEk

the Group other than the Directors for the year is as follows: N) 2 Eaa T
For the year ended 31st March
BE=A=1—HILEE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FABT
Basic salaries and allowances HAE & KFERL 5,550 5,995
Bonus TE4L 1,169 1,730
Employer’s contribution to retirement B+ Z RN EIHER
scheme 36 36
Equity-settled share options expenses VARG HE#E S 2 BB IR 2 189 2,885
6,944 10,646

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group ~ AEBIEREBEEK & (EFHRIN) 2FH T 5%

other than the Directors fell within the following bands: A
For the year ended 31st March
BE=A=+—-HLEFE
2023 2022
—EB-=F B4
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A
Remuneration by band NS AR
HK$1,000,001 — HK$3,000,000 1,000,001 7T — 3,000,000 AT 1 —
HK$3,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 3,000,001 #7T — 5,000,000 #7T 1 1
HK$5,000,001 — HK$7,000,000 5,000,001 7T — 7,000,000 #7T — 1
2 2

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited 1t 255K R& 12 B A PR A &



BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company’s audit
committee comprised not less than three members at all time. The members
of the audit committee comprised Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse (who served
as committee chairman and has appropriate professional qualifications
and experience in financial matters), Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee and

Dr. Cai Qing, all being independent non-executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a set of the revised terms of reference of the audit
committee to align with the provisions set out in the Code in November
2018. The committee’s principal duties are to ensure the adequacy
and effectiveness of the accounting and financial controls of the Group,
oversee the performance of internal control systems, risk management and
financial reporting process, monitor the integrity of the financial statements
and compliance with statutory and listing requirements and to oversee

independence and qualifications of the external auditors.

The audit committee meets at least four times a year to discuss any
area of concern during the audits or reviews and at least twice of the
meetings shall be with the external auditors. The audit committee reviews
the quarterly, interim and annual reports before submission to the Board.
Senior representatives of the external auditors, executive Directors and

senior management are invited to attend the meetings, if required.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the year, the audit committee has approved the nature and scope
of the statutory audits, and reviewed the quarterly, interim and annual
financial statements of the Group, and was content that the accounting
policies and standards of the Group are in accordance with the current
best practices in Hong Kong. The audit committee has also reviewed the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal audit function. Five meetings were held during the year
with an attendance rate of 100%. The attendance of each audit committee

members during the year is set out below:

ExZER®)
BEREEE (H)

RAFER BELZEGEHEZEERZILEER
HE WRMAEEZFE  PHRFEPBER
= AmEBEAKREZ S BREEADTEEESR
BZ&EFH BERZEETERAAEEZER
EERATEZERS - ARKREB A E A
BRE - RAFERABRTARER HFEER
100% - RAFEAR - EEZZBGKEHFESH
BRI

Audit Committee
members’ attendance/

meetings held

ERZEEREHE

BIEBRE

Joseph Liang Hsien Tse REEE 5/5
Joseph Chan Nap Kee PR 5/5
Cai Qing =5 5/5

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including: (a) to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; (b) to review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and (e) to review
the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report. During the year, the Board reviewed the Company’s

policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company reviews the appointment of external auditor on an annual
basis including a review of the audit scope and approval of the audit fee.
During the year, the fee payable to the Company’s external auditor for the
audit of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$2,800,000 (2022: HK$2,600,000) and fee for non-audit related
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries amounted to approximately
HK$525,000 (2022: HK$900,000).

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of the
Corporate Governance Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is responsible
for the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the

Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis.
Risk Assessment System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the
risk associated with its strategic, financial, operations, compliance and
significant environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues. The

system comprises the following phases:

o Phase 1: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks

that could affect the achievement of objectives

o Phase 2: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the

risk portfolio accordingly

o Phase 3: Consider the risk responses and ensure effective

communication to the Board

o Phase 4: On-going monitor the residual risks

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2022, no significant risk was
identified.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

(continued)

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSQ”) 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group
to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components and main features of the framework are

shown as follow:
Control Environment

o Proper structures, reporting lines and appropriate authorities and

responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives are established.
Risk Assessment

° Changes in risk that could significantly impact the system of internal

control are identified using the abovementioned risk management

system.
Control Activities
o Formal policy and procedures, such as financial reporting, revenue

and receipts, are established, implemented and communicated
throughout the Group.

Information and Communication

o Proper safeguards are established for handling and dissemination
inside information. For example, confidentiality agreements are in
place when the Group enters into significant negotiations, and the
executive Directors are designated to speak on behalf of the Group
when communicating with external parties such as the media,

analysts or investors.

Monitoring

o Internal control deficiencies are communicated to the responsible

departments in a timely manner for taking corrective action.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2022, no significant

control deficiency was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

(continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

The abovementioned risk assessment and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Internal Auditor

The Group has engaged an independent professional internal control
consultant firm (the “Internal Control Consultant”) to review the entity level
policies, risk assessment and internal control systems of major business
processes of the Group for financial year ended 31st March 2023. The
Internal Control Consultant performs the review, reports the relevant
findings and recommendations to the Board and Audit Committee and
follows up on management responses to the recommendations on an on-
going basis. Overall, the Board considers the risk management and internal
control system of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Group does not have an internal audit department and the Board
has reviewed the need for an internal audit function and considered that
it more cost-effective to appoint external independent professionals to
independently review and continuously evaluate the Group’s internal
monitoring systems and risk management systems, taking into account the
size and nature of the Board. The Board will review the need for an internal
audit function at least annually.

According to the established plan approved by the Board, review of the
risk management and internal control systems is conducted annually and
the results are reported to the Board/Audit Committee afterwards.

During the year, the audit committee reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control system through the following processes and subsequently
reported the review results to the Board:

o discussions with the executive management on areas of risk
identified

o review of risks reported by the Internal Control Consultant

o review of the external audit plans

[E\Bn B R I BB BRI ()

RERESIR R A (4F)

Fit e R R N EREEIE R A B A E M IEER AR
BEEREB B R 2R - SW{EA B E AR
EERMH SR mIFBERE o

A ER R BB

AEEEZBBHIEENAREZBER AR (TR
EER ) BEHASERE T =F=A=+—
BUEFBFEFERERXBEENERERBOR - &
R AT HIE - AEEITERETTELS
AEFENEZZBERERMNATERNIER
2E THEREEEEHEZNMEE - BEM
5 EFERAASENERERE AR
BEMRITR °

AREE AW ER T ARMEZALF - MEZS2RAA
HEZBENTER  YRA/EEINEZTSNRER
18 - ZEINEE L ERA T B R R EE
2N &= [ P D 85 2R 6 2 X L B R I SR RN BN
7o EXERELEFRN —AREFERIAM
BEAZEPFT -

REZCRESSHENTEZE - BREE R
REEE ARG EFETRE - MABERELRER
TEFe EREER -

RAFER - BERZEBSEBATEFRTAIE
RRGLZRE  WRNERAEEERERIAER

o  BEHTEEABIBAEAZEREE

s  EHANEEERERE AR

o EIYINDEXEE

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F %}



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

(continued)
Internal Auditor (continued)
° review of issues reported by external auditor

o review of the reports from the Internal Control Consultant, the
executive management to ensure appropriate controls are in place

and any deficiencies or irregularities, if any, are rectified

Based on the result of the review for the year ended 31st March 2023, the
Board considered that the risk management system and internal control
system of the Group, including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the accounting and financial reporting function,
and their training programs and budget, are adequate and effective and

have complied with the provisions of the Code during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the Chairlady, the Board and Board
committees by ensuring good information flow within the Board and that
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary reports
to the Board and assists the Board in functioning effectively and efficiently.
He also advises the Board on governance matters and facilitates the
induction and professional development of Directors. All Directors of the
Company may call upon the company secretary for advice and assistance
at any time in respect to their duties and the effective operation of the

Board and the Board committees.

Mr. Law Wai Fai is the chief financial officer and company secretary of the
Company. He is a full time employee of the Company and had day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Law undertook not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year.
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NOMINATION POLICY

During the year under review, the Company has adopted a nomination
policy in November 2018 (“Nomination Policy”). The Nomination Policy sets
out the criteria and procedures for nominating candidates for election as

Directors.

Selection Criteria

1. The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee (“NC”) in assessing the suitability of a

proposed candidate.

> Reputation for integrity

> Accomplishment and experience in relation to the Company’s

line of business

> Commitment in respect of available time

> Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and

length of service

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The NC has the discretion to nominate any person, as

it considers appropriate.

2. Retiring independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”), save for
those who have served as INEDs for a period of 9 consecutive
years, are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand for re-
election at a general meeting. For the avoidance of doubt, (a) the
9-year period for determining the eligibility of an INED for nomination
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting would count
from his/her date of first appointment as an INED until the date of
the forthcoming annual general meeting when his/her current term
of service will expire at the end of that meeting; and (b) an INED who
has been serving on the Board for a period of 9 consecutive years or

more may continue to hold office until expiry of his/ her current term.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

NOMINATION POLICY (continued)

Selection Criteria (continued)

3 Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information, together with their written consent to be appointed as
a Director and to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation

to their standing for election as a Director.

4. The NC may request candidates to provide additional information

and documents, if considered necessary.
Nomination Procedures

1. The Secretary of the NC shall call a meeting of the NC, and
invite nominations of candidates from Board members if any, for
consideration by the NC prior to its meeting. The NC may also put

forward candidates who are not nominated by Board members.

2. For filing a casual vacancy, the NC shall make recommendations for
the Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing candidates
to stand for election at a general meeting, the NC shall make

nominations to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

3 Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated persons
shall not assume that they have been proposed by the Board to
stand for election at the general meeting.

4. In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, a circular will
be sent to shareholders. The names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required pursuant to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed candidates

will be included in the circular to shareholders.
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NOMINATION POLICY (continued)

Nomination Procedures (continued)

o

A shareholder can serve a notice to the Company Secretary in
accordance with Bye-law 88 of the Bye-laws of the Company, to
propose a resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without
the Board’s recommendation or the NC’s nomination, other than
those candidates set out in the shareholder circular. The particulars
of the candidates so proposed will be sent to all shareholders for

information by a supplementary circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the

Company Secretary.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general

meeting.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall
be elected as a Director, shareholder proposed resolutions shall
therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed for the

candidates recommended by the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity

Policy”) in September 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve

diversity on the Board in order to enhance the quality of its performance.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse

Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and independence. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of

diversity on the Board.

The gender ratio in the Group’s workforce, including the Directors and
senior management as at 31st March 2023 is 25% (female): 75% (male).
The Company has been taking, and will continue to take, steps to promote
gender diversity across the workforce, with the ultimate goal of achieving

gender parity.

The nomination committee of the Company will monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and review the Board Diversity Policy annually
to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The nomination
committee of the Company will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”) in
February 2019, pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, provided that the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio
and the Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company, subject to the provisions of the Bye-Laws
of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors set

out below:
(i) the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

(ii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and

each of the other members of the Group;

(iii) economic conditions and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance and

position of the Group;

(iv) business strategies of the Group, including future cash commitments
and investment needs to sustain the long-term growth aspect of the

business;

(v) the current and future operations, liquidity position and capital

requirements of the Group;

(vi) restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the

Group’s lenders;
(vi)  statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
(vii)  any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to shareholders’
approval and the Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any
dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICIES

The Company is committed to high standard of openness, probity and
ethical business practices. A whistleblowing policy and system has been
adopted to ensure employees and those who deal with the Company (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter related
to the Company. The identity of the whistleblower will be treated with the

strictest confidential.

The Company also takes a zero-tolerance approach towards all forms
of bribery and corruption and is committed to observing and upholding
high standards of business integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality and
transparency in all its business dealings at all times. The Company has
adopted an anti-corruption policy, with a view to promoting and reinforcing

compliance with anti-corruption laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

According to the Bye-Laws of the Company, any one or more shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meeting of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The requisition
must be lodged with the Company’s registered office.

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are set out in the Company’s Bye-laws and also
available at the Company’s website at www.nasholdings.com. Shareholders
may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing
to the company secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Suite 1618, 16th Floor, Jardine House, 1 Connaught Place,
Central, Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board adopted a shareholders’ communication policy which aims at
providing the shareholders and potential investors with ready and timely
access to balanced and understandable information of the Company. The
Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an on-going
dialogue with its shareholders as follows: (a) corporate communications
such as announcements, annual reports, quarterly reports and circulars
are published and available on the Stock Exchange’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.nasholdings.com;
(b) corporate information is made available on the Company’s website; (c)
general meetings provide a forum for the shareholders to make comments
and exchange views with the Directors and senior management, and the
poll results of the general meetings are published on the websites of the
Company and the GEM; and (d) the Company’s share registrars serve the
shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment, change of

shareholders’ particulars and related matters.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the year. The
Chairlady of the Board, the members of the Board committees and external
auditor attended the annual general meeting held on 8th September 2022
to answer questions from shareholders. Having considered the knowledge
of the aforesaid attendees, including representation from the Company’s
management and auditor, the Company considers that questions or
issues raised by Shareholders would be sufficiently addressed and that an
effective dialogue between the Company and the Shareholders has been

maintained.

The Company’s memorandum of association and Bye-laws is available
on both the Company’s website at www.nasholdings.com and the Stock
Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk. During the year, the Company’s
Bye-laws was amended and restated on 8th September 2022 in order to
bring the constitution of the Company in line with the GEM Listing Rules, in
particular the Core Shareholder Protection Standards set out in Appendix 3
of the GEM Listing Rules, to modernize the Bye-laws, to incorporate certain
housekeeping amendments and to consolidate the proposed amendments
to the Bye-laws. The proposed amendments were approved by way of
special resolutions at the Company’s annual general meeting held on
8th September 2022. For details, please refer to the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 27th July 2022 and the announcement
dated 8th September 2022.

REERF

EF2ERARTBBBUR - EEERRREER
BEAHELRFESAQRAERIRIEFE A
Ko RATERIIATZERERARRRFFERET
it @2% - Fif - TERSERBEEQTEA
S TI) 2 B HAB <2 BT 495 www.hkexnews.hk K 7
A &) #4815 www.nasholdings.com : (b) 2 & & £} A] A
RNARMEUMER  OREASABRRIEHRERER
KEEEREREBEABRRE R 2B MR
REZHRBHERERA R R R GEMBuEHIZE : K& (d)
RNARZRMDBEEDEMBRRRBEROERL - K
B BB KAAEEE R ©

EXFeNAFEERMNRRBABRKZERLRE N
H-BERTF BSEFZBKE RINEREE
BELER -T2 —_FhANBRITZRRBFAKR
AR ERRIER - £EE LAt EEERFABR -
BRAREEERZEMAR  ARRARBRRIE
HZHBERFBEEFIETSRE - AR R RN
Z MRS B M EI5E o

RARARZHEBERRMARATMAENTRAER
&) 4 uhwww.nasholdings.com & B 22 BT 48 uf
www.hkexnews.hk & « £A - RAGR =T ==
FNANBIETREFTART 2 MBI - AFFE GEM
EWRA - AHZGEM _ETR BIF SR 3 FraEiiz AR
RIREEAE - EARAFTAABERE - WAFELRE
EIRER] + RERAH R AMAIMERISE] - ZEE
FETNAARN_ZE_—FAANBETZRE
BERE EARRIAZRR AN RA - BEFS - &
SHARRR_E_—_FLtA=-ttRAZAEKA
BRERZE__FHANBZASE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F %}



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERBE

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are ultimately responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial year which gives a true and fair view. In
preparing the financial statements, appropriate accounting policies and

standards are selected and applied consistently.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the

independent auditor’s report on pages 66 to 72 of this report.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant
in maintaining investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerate effort to strengthen and improve the

standards of the corporate governance of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERES

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) have the pleasure
of presenting their annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended
31st March 2023 (the “year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the

nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, a fair review of
the business of the Group, an analysis using financial key performance
indicators and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, which can be found in the Management Discussion & Analysis
set out on pages 9 to 18 of this annual report. This discussion forms part

of this director’s report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
relationships with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group will be
provided in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report which will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company'’s website at www.nasholdings.com.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and segment results by operating
segment for the year is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial

statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year

are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

RESULTS

Details of the Group’s results for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive

income on pages 73 and 74, respectively, of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31st March 2023 (2022: Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to

offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31st March 2023, the reserves available for distribution to the
shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately HK$484,508,000
(2022: HK$490,572,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the

last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to

the consolidated financial statements.
INTEREST CAPITALISED
The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year.

DONATION

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$3,015,000 (2022: HK$5,030,000).
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PROVIDENT FUND SCHEME

Details of the provident fund schemes are set out in note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Zhang Yifan (Chairladly)
Kenneth Kon Hiu King

Non-Executive Director
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming (re-designated from executive Director to
non-executive Director on 9th February 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse

Joseph Chan Nap Kee

Cai Qing

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Pierre
Tsui Kwong Ming and Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee shall retire from office
by rotation and be eligible, will offer themselves for reelection at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 19 to 24 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Group which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation other than statutory compensation.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EXERES

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2023, the Directors and chief executive of the Company
and their respective associates had the following interests or short
positions in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the

GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities transactions by Directors:

Long positions in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company:

EERBSITBRAERERG - MERGRE

EECZEZIRAE
RZTE-_=F=A=+—H EERARAZST

BABURFEES B 2B AR B s H AR
B(EERBFHFRIPEEG(FZHFRIPE KD D E
XVE8) 2 B K,/ SRR D R A A T E S AR
BES BB GFIEI2GATE 2 E MRz #Z
mREAR - SRR GEM LRI 5.46 1525 5.67
KEBEZETESFR S 2 RTEANSANA R KB
RETZ RS RAR

RAR TR K/ SRR 2 1A -

Number of Approximate
underlying percentage
Number shares held of shares and
of ordinary (Share underlying
Name of Director Capacity shares held Options) shares held
FrisAaRE iR 6 R
RHEE HERG 2
EEpE 514 iR EREE (R BHBEDE
(Note a)
(Ffif7Ea)
Zhang Yifan Beneficial owner 3,268,000 7,003,817 24.54%
sR—M BmEAA
Interest of controlled 101,272,000 =
corporation (Note b)
Sy AEER (MEEb)
Pierre Tsui Kwong Ming Beneficial owner = 1,182,217 0.26%
IRERA EnEAA
Kenneth Kon Hiu King Beneficial owner = 4,450,217 0.97%
TBES EnEAA
Joseph Liang Hsien Tse Beneficial owner — 626,217 0.13%
REE EnEAA
Joseph Chan Nap Kee Beneficial owner = 626,217 0.13%
PRAZE EREAA
Notes: Mz -
(@  The above approximate percentages of the shareholdings are based on (@  EHFRZBABEBLSLDIBER=_ZTE=_=F=A

454,509,311 ordinary shares in issue as at 31st March 2023.

(o)  Sky Virtue Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Zhang Yifan. By virtue of (o)
Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Zhang Yifan is deemed to be interested in the shares
held by Sky Virtue Holdings Limited.

=+— BB 372 454,509,311 R L @A M=t E -

Sky Virtue Holdings Limitedfisk — il Z -2 & A -
BIEE S REEIEHIEXVES - R—MZ TR AR
Sky Virtue Holdings Limited Fff 55 A = B 17 7 i A 1
= o
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DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2023, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company or their respective associates had
any interests or short positions in the securities of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by Directors.

Save for the above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age had any
interests in, or had been granted or exercised, any rights to subscribe for
any securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations during

the year.

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31st March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors and chief
executive of the Company, the following person (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company whose interests were disclosed
above) had interests or short positions in the shares and/or underlying
shares of the Company which were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

ESRESTBRAERRKRS - MBARORE
BEEENAR ()

%Liﬁﬁ?&ﬁ%ﬁl\'\_7_f¢ A=+—82"
EEZRARARBTRABRBEEEE ZBHEAR
BRAR T‘}Zﬁﬁﬂawﬁl(E%E:ﬂ%&ﬁﬁfﬂlﬂﬂ%
XVED) 2 &5 PR EAE S AREE SRR
PIEI2FATHFEZERLMA - HARIEGEM £
HAIE L 46 (G EEL67REBEFETERRHZ
RECHEARR BRI Z BRIAR

B EXATRSN  AFERBEEERARAHZSTH
/\EEJZ%&%@M%EJZ18%}3%?2—?&%%5}2%%?}2??
R AT REB AL RS H AL fAIAEEAE 2 78

Hitb AT RIRODRABBERD 2 Em R AR

RIB_=ZF=ZA=1+—80 REERAQFAKRD
TTRABA » TIAL(EREXREESEZES
RARRRBITRABRIN RAR RN &, %48
BMRNPEBCIARRBRERE S RBE GRS
3BOIRAETHREZ EZBRRELCMAZ SRR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

Long positions in the shares and/or underlying shares of the

HEALTRRORMEERSD 2R RXR

(%)

RAERXRABRGB R JEBERG 2 TR

Company
Number of Approximate
underlying percentage
Number shares held of shares and
of ordinary (Share underlying
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held Options) shares held
P FERG R
BRER e HHEAR P E B R 2
=18 1 EZEREE (BRE) BHESL
(Note a)
(Ff7Ea)
Lu Ying Beneficial owner = 699,016 39.54%
FExa EnEEA
Interest of controlled 179,014,812 =
_corporation (Note b)
SyrtlEE R (MEb)
Sincere Ardent Limited Bene}icial owner (Note b) 179,014,812 — 39.38%
BEamEA A (Hizb)
Sun Ciying Beneficial owner 39,861,357 - 8.77%
R EnEEA
Sky Virtue Holdings Limited Beneflcial owner (Note c) 101,272,000 = 22.28%
BB A (KMidtc)
Notes: Mf%E
(@) The above approximate percentages of the shareholdings are based on (a) L FR 2O IBBER T =_=F=A

454,509,311 ordinary shares in issue as at 31st March 2023.

(b) Sincere Ardent Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Lu Ying. By virtue of Part XV of
the SFO, Ms. Lu Ying is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Sincere
Ardent Limited.

(c) Sky Virtue Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Zhang Yifan, the Chairlady
and an executive Director of the Company. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO,
Ms. Zhang Yifan is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Sky Virtue
Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company were not aware of any person (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company the interests of which were disclosed above)
who has any interests or short positions in the securities of the Company
that were required to be entered in the register of substantial shareholders
of the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at 31st March
2023.

=+—BB3172 454,509,311 R LB M AT & ©

Sincere Ardent Limited AfEBZ 2B A ° 1B
BHRERGRAIEXVED - BB TH18 AR Sincere
Ardent Limited FT#5 8 2 IR HE A HEzs

Sky Virtue Holdings Limited B8 48 A 7] & & 3& ¥ 17
EEFR—MEL2EHE - BESZHFRAE KL
EXVED + 5k — ML L4 R /5 Sky Virtue Holdings
Limited P57 2 AR {7 #EG #E 2

BREXFIREEN RZE_=F=A=+—8 -
REERARBRSBITHRABRM  BEEMAL
(EREXBERSZEFTHARARTRAER
SN RARBEHFEA A ARRRREZ SR
Bi&PIFE3B6IGFE 2 EERRELMAZ EF#E

AR -
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or

subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

On 4th September 2014, the shareholders of the Company approved the

adoption of a share option scheme (the “2014 Scheme”).

The major terms of the 2014 Scheme are summarized as follows:

(1)  The purpose of the 2014 Scheme is to reward participants who
have contributed or will contribute to the Group and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders

as a whole.

(2)  The participants of the 2014 Scheme are the employee, agent,
consultant or representative of the Company or any subsidiary,
including any executive or non-executive Director of the Company or
any subsidiary or any other person who the Board considers, in its

sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group.

(8 The maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2014 Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the ordinary shares in issue on the date of
approval of the 2014 Scheme (the “Scheme Limit”) or as at the date

of the Shareholders’ approval of the refreshed Scheme Limit.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all option granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2014 Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company shall not, in aggregate exceed 30% of the ordinary
shares in issue from time to time. As at the date of this report, the
total number of the ordinary shares of the Company available for
issue in respect of which share options have been granted and yet
to be granted under 2014 Scheme is 32,056,919, representing
approximately 7.05% of the issued share capital of the Company.

PR SR 5 8 1 =

RAFE R LN FRETZREBBGEFE
;T

BRERE

RZZB-MOFNAEB - RNRBRRIERRIER
R E ([ —mFatE]) -

—E-EFEZ T RGBT

(1) —ZF-EFFIEERBEHABHAREE
HEBZ28EE  YEE2ERE[/AAFTRE
BRzERNE  BAARRRERN 2B
=0

@ —F-EFFEHZ2EEBEARABKEMMNM
BARZEMESR - K12 - BERAZAKE 8%
AR B EAATHE R R BT ESS I
TES  JEFTEXRMBARSHAHHA
SEERERZERMEMBAL -

@ RITERE-_F-HFFH RERNARFEM
BRIERT I TREZMEREN A T#IT2
LEREE LR - A HMEEBN T —NF
FTEIHLE B Bk A R L Tt 2R 58 B
EETEBRZ 10% ([FHEIRE]) -

RITERE =T — M F T & REM AR R EAD
ARG T 21 B 4% 8 M AR TTE /Y BT BE AR i
el FETZARREBREE LR - 43
MIBBIRBEBEITEBR230% © RAR
S BE-T—MEFEEEE KR
BHERE 2 AR R A HEITEBRESA
32,056,9190% » HER AR A B BEITRAL
7.05% °
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

)

The maximum number of ordinary shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each grantee under the
2014 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month

period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue for the time being.

The exercise period of any option granted under the 2014 Scheme
shall be determined by the Board but such period shall not exceed

10 years from the date of grant.

The 2014 Scheme does not specify any minimum holding period.

The acceptance of an offer of the grant of the option under the
2014 Scheme (“Offer”) must be made within 5 business days from
the date on which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that
participant together with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from
each grantee.

The exercise price of an option to subscribe for ordinary shares of
the Company shall be determined by the Board but shall not be less
than the higher of:

a. The closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the

date of grant, which must be a business day;

b. The average closing price of the ordinary shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

G. The nominal value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant.
The 2014 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten

years commencing on its adoption of the 2014 Scheme on 4th
September 2014.

IRER TR ()

IR & ()

)

R AR ATTRAEEM 12188 BMEARRE—
T—FEAE MEAARR R E IR IR &I A
R BRE (RREITRERARITEREZBK
B)MEBRTRETRITZEBRHE LR
SHEEREHITRMNZ1%

REBE—T—NFERER L 2 BRE 2T MM
EFEETF - ETEANMSEERD B YR
EE e

— R RN BRI R AR o

RE_F-NFFEARIBREZZH(TE
W) BAERBRER2EEXREEZ0 2
BN HAR T 6 (B 3 B AR AR A - iR
BRARAEZ N Z1.00E T NARERIA ©

RBARREBRZBRELITEERHES
BETE  TEERTISBETESE :

a. HRARREBH(ZELEAR/EXER)
B2 BAREBERMIIARR BB
mE

b. EERE AR EE R BB AN
Z B ARERMIIARF LB FIHYK
miE: &

c. EERERNREAMZEE-

—E-OEFEEN B ERANE R T —F
NATBEFT T FRNEBRER
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued) B E At (2)

Share Option Scheme (continued) BRETE ()
The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s share ~ NRBFINAFERE—FT —MFFHEHTAAF
options under the 2014 Scheme during the year: fERcIE 2 #E)
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat 31st
Date of Exercise Exercise 1st April during the during the during the during the March
Name grant period price® 222 year year year year 2023
kb3 RB=ZE
BA-A =B=t-A
#4 REAH liid fifEEn AT ERERY ERBAE EREaH EREAN HATR
Executive Directors
il
Zhang Yifan 16th August 2017 16th August 2017 to 15th August 2027 HK$1.187 2755817 - - - - 2,755,817
ta ) ZF-tENATAR “E-tE At BEZE-tENATEA 11377
24th December 2021 24th December 2021 to 23rd December 2031 HKS$0.700 980,000 - - - - 980,000
R-F4IAZIEE CR-ECACTMERIEE-FrCACTER 0700ER
7th November 2022 Tth November 2022 to 6th November 2032 HK$0.325 - 3,268,000 - - - 3,268,000
SROCETAER CECCET-AEAECRECET-AAR 032577
Kenneth Kon Hiu King 16th August 2017 16th August 2017 to 15th August 2027 HKS$1.187 200217 - - - - 00217
TR BHEMATAE CR-tENATAEECSCHENATER 113757
24th December 2021 24th December 2021 to 23rd December 2031 HK$0.700 4,248,000 - - - - 4,248,000
Eo-ELASMA CEo-FtoACtMRESES-Et-ACtER 00T
Non-executive Director
FHrES
Pierre Toui Kwong Ming 16th August 2017 16th August 2017 to 15th August 2027 HKS$1.137 00217 - - - - 00217
fRER ZE-tEN\AtAR “E-tEN\ATAREE-tEN\ATRA 118737
24th December 2021 24th December 2021 to 23rd December 2031 HK$0.700 980,000 - - - - 980,000
E--EL-ASMA CEo-FtoACtMRECES-Et-AotER 0T03ET
7th November 2022 7th November 2022 to 6th November 2032 HK$0.325 - 3,268,000 3,268,000/ - - -

“ECCET-AHA SR CET-ALAE-E=E-ARA 035%T
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued) IR =B TR R (2)
Share Option Scheme (continued) BRETE (E)
Number of share options
ERERE
Outstanding Outstanding
asat Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed asat 3fst
Date of Exercise Exercise 1st April during the during the during the during the March
Name grant period price® 2022 year year year year 228
RoB=f it
mA-A =p=t-A
#4 REAH 8 i AT FRERY FRBAE EREHH EREAN HATR
Independent non-executive Directors
BUFHGES
Joseph Liang Hslen Tse 16th August 2017 16th August 2017 to 16th August 2027 HK$1.137 02217 - - - - 02217
ZEh “E-tEN\AtAR “E-tE\AT BEE-tEN\ATRA 118TAT
24ih December 2021 24h December 2021 to 23rd December 2031 HKS$0.700 424,000 - - - - 424,000
“R--EPCACHIR CEo-EtoA-RARCES-ET-ACTER 0T0ET
Joseph Chan Nap Kee 16th August 2017 16th August 2017 to 15th August 2027 HK$1.137 0217 - - - - 022217
Rz BAENATAR CECENATRRECRCLENATER 113747
24th December 2021 24th December 2021 to 23rd December 2031 HK$0.700 424,000 - - - - 424,000
ZEC-ETTACMR ZERC-FroACtMEEIES-Er2ACTER 00T
Cai Qing Tth November 2022 7th November 2022 to 6th November 2032 HK$0.325 - 424000 424,000/ - - -
25 TROCET-RYE ZECCEr-RHAECEECET-ARH 032577
Sub-Total 10,620,685 6,960,000 (3,692,000) - - 13,888,685
it
Substantial Shareholder
IERR
LuYing 16th August 2017 16th August 2017 to 15th August 2027 HK$1.187 275,016 - - - - 275,016
B8 Z5-tEN\At/R “E-tE\AtABE_E-tEN\ATRA 118757
24th December 2021 24th December 2021 to 23rd December 2031 HKS$0.700 424000 - - - - 424,000
ZEo-Et-ACHRA CEo-Et-AHRAZCES-EtCACTER 0T00RT
Employees of the Group
458ES
Other Employess 16th August 2017 16th August 2017 to 15th August 2027 HK$1.187 3,564,687 - - - - 3,564,687
AfbER BENATAE CRHEN\ATREECECHENATERA 1137%7
24th December 2021 24th December 2021 to 23rd December 2031 HKS$0.700 4,044,000 - - - - 4,044,000
ZPCETCACHRA CEC-ECACTRAZCEC-ETCAZTER 0700ERT
Tth November 2022 Tth November 2022 to 6th November 2032 HKS0.325 - 25,692,000 (25,692,000)% - - -
ZECET-AtA E-Ft-AtRECECE+-AAA 035%T
Total 18,928,388 32,662,000 (29,384,000) - - 22,196,388
&t
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

Notes:

(1)

The closing price per share immediately before 16th August 2017, 24th
December 2021 and 7th November 2022, the dates of grant, were HK$1.15
(after adjustment of share consolidation on 26th March 2019), HK$0.70 and
HK$0.325 respectively.

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital.

The number and the exercise price of share options which remained
outstanding on 13th May 2021 have been adjusted due to completion of open
offer on 13th May 2021.

— For the share options granted on 16th August 2017, the total number
of share options outstanding on 13th May 2021 was adjusted from
7,328,200 to 7,404,388 and the exercise price per share was adjusted
from HK$1.15 to HK$1.137.

The exercise date was 3rd March 2023. The closing price of the shares
immediately before the date on which the share options were exercised by
option holders was HK$0.31.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F %}
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS (continued)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of the share options granted to Directors, a substantial
shareholder and employees was determined using the binomial model. The
inputs into the model and the fair value of the total share options granted

were as follows:

IRER TR ()
BREZAABERRBRR
BRTEE IZRREREEZBREZAAEBTIR

“HABAETE - ZRA 2HABBE R RERE
BEZ NAREWT

Date of grant
RHAH

16th August 2017 24th December 2021 Tth November 2022

ZB-tF b St ot St 2

NAtTAA TZAZT@A T-AtH

Expected dividend yield (%) TR S (%) 0.000 0.000 0.000
Expected volatiity (%) TREIRIE (%) 79.012 72.564 73.844
Risk-free interest rate (%) ﬂﬂﬂﬁﬂi( ) 2,030 1.512 4422
Exercise multiple (times) R () 2.80 1.10 110
Fair value of the total share options granted ETﬁ BIRELE L ANE HK$4,684,0007 7T HK$730,0007 7T HK$961,000 7T

The binomial model is a generally accepted method of valuing share
options. The significant assumptions used in the calculation of the values
of the share options were risk-free interest rate, exercise multiple, expected
volatility and expected dividend yield. The measurement date used in the

valuation model was the date on which the share options were granted.

The values of share options determined using the binomial model are
subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective nature
of and uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the expected
future performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of
the model itself. The value of the share option varies with different variables
of certain subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may

materially affect the estimation of the fair value of the share option.

“HEARAREBRASEBREETHE LS
%o StEBRE BERARAZEABRRSER
SR - (TEMEER - FHANIE RIRHA S SR -
HERAFMERZERNARLBEEZAH -

o

ERsiin ABRA Z B AR RBAIEL Z ERK
THEERTARER R EARAEE2E
BREEEAZE TEARRS AR - MRXANF IR
AETAERS - LREREEERS TEIBERR
ZTRBEME  MRAEEEMEH RS LHER
BANBEZEHERERTE -
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director of the Company or a connected entity of such Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end

of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme”, neither at
the end of nor at any time during the year there subsisted any arrangement
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and the
objects of or one of the objects of such arrangement are/is to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into

or existed during the year.

INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provides that every director of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses shall or may incur or sustain by any act done or in the execution
of their duties as a Director of the Company, provided that such indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to such Director. Directors Liability Insurance is in place to
protect the Directors of the Company or its subsidiaries against potential
costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors in the
executive of their duties.

BEECEARS  R¥FSEHER

RELRIAFEAEMER - ARFHEMERA]
BET LAY RAREEBMEFNARRESER
ZEFEZEERNEPERAMEREAEA S
ZEARS ~ RHHAH -

ESBARDNERER &R

B [RERHERT &) FAREE SN RERIAFEARE
Al B R~ AN B Sl EL A BT /B8 2 RIBR B AT S AEAAI AT
REFB2LY MAEBRHEZZEK—RIENIAR
AR EEEEALRR TS AEMEABRE 2D
S fEHEE MR

EEEN

RAFE A ER] LS FHE S RAR R BB
EABAEBZ BERITBZ AR

TEIRX

ARRZAAARRE  ARBEBREFHAE
BIARRESBAMEL Z1TAMIERKA LS
HEGER 2 —IHRHR KA BF Bk BER
X RARREERGNPESRBERE - 1EH
MREERETSRERFESA RS2 EAREF
FITHEFE - ARAIEREEFEERRE - R
EARBKEMBRAR cESTRXRABITREM R
HREMELZEMNEEERREBTE -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRES

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31st March 2023, none of the Directors or substantial shareholder
of the Company or any of their respective close associates has engaged
in any business that competes or may compete with the business of the

Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 48.3% of the Group’s total turnover and the largest
customer of the Group accounted for approximately 33.7% of the
Group’s total turnover. The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for approximately 50.9% of the Group’s total purchases and the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 43.9% of the Group’s

total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had a beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and

suppliers noted above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended
31st March 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information, the Company maintains a sufficient
public float of more than 25% of the issued ordinary shares as at the date
of this annual report.

R

B

RZTEZ=F=A=+—H ESHAQAEER
RYAEMKEES 2 ERHEAREREEEMAR
EEESEACK AR R R 2 SR AEEE
A AT E A R 2R o

EFREFRAHER

RAFE  ARBAATFPHARBLERERY
483% MAKBHZRAEPHASEZLEEELN
B7% AEBARNHEREASEREATD
50.9% @ MAKBERAHEAGEAREBEREDN
43.9% °

BECNES REZBBARNESTAAERS
5% AR BBRAZ EFBRN EXRA 2 NEB R A
BEP LM ERT A B o

BA SHIEEARQFZ LHES

AATRAEAMELNEEARE T ===
BE+—BIEFENBA « &L REEAATER
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INFORMATION OF COMPLIANCE OFFICER AND
COMPANY SECRETARY

The compliance officer of the Company is Ms. Zhang Yifan. Ms. Zhang is
the Chairlady and an executive Director of the Company. The biographical

details of Ms. Zhang are set out on page 19 of this annual report.

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Law Wai Fai. He is also the
chief financial officer of the Company. The biographical details of Mr. Law
are set out in section of “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” on

page 24.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by the

Company is set out on pages 25 to 50 of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2023 have been

audited by Ernst & Young who will retire at the forthcoming annual general

meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board
North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited

Zhang Yifan
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 21st June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BB EN RS

e
EY::

To the shareholders of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of North Asia
Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 73 to 212, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st March 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st March
20283, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For the matter below, our description of how our

audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for

our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the

Key audit matter key audit matter

Expected credit losses (“ECLS”) for trade receivables and finance lease

receivables

BREETEE

RRETFEERERMANERALE - RREAH
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BREt SR iy
B SRR E BB B EER
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As at 31st March 20283, the
Group had trade receivables and
finance lease receivables with
carrying amounts of approximately
HK$342.0 million and HK$78.4

million, respectively.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
requires the use of the ECLs
model for the estimation of loss

allowances of financial assets.

Management uses the simplified
approach and general approach to
calculate ECLs for trade receivables
and finance lease receivables,

respectively.

We obtained an understanding of
the Group’s credit risk management
and practices, and evaluated
whether the Group’s assessment
of the ECLs allowance is in
accordance with the requirements of
HKFRS 9, including an evaluation of
management judgements on (i) the
level of disaggregation of categories
for collective assessment; and
(ii) the use of available credit risk
information, including historical and

forward-looking information.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

B ZBERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the

key audit matter

Expected credit losses (“ECLS”) for trade receivables and finance lease

receivables (Continued)

Management has engaged an
independent specialist to determine
the ECLs.

We focused on this area because
the carrying amounts of the trade
receivables and finance lease
receivables are significant to the
Group and significant management
judgements and estimates were
involved in determining the ECLs
with reference to historical loss
record and forward-looking

information.

Disclosures in relation to trade
receivables and finance lease
receivables are included in notes 4
and 17 to the consolidated financial

statements.

We obtained and reviewed, with the
assistance of our internal specialist,
the ECLs calculation prepared by
management which was based
on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience and, with the aid
of the external specialist engaged
by management, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic

environment.

We assessed the competence,
objectivity and independence of the
external specialist engaged by the

management of the Group.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BB EN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BB EN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest

benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chow Chi Chung.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place,

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
21st June 2023
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EFEEREENEEEENDE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF P
mAERER

Year ended 31st March 2023
 E—T-_=F=A=t+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= ==

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET THET

Revenue WA 2,266,642 2,445,150
Cost of sales SHER A (1,932,650) (2,048,693)

Gross profit EF 333,992 396,457

Other income and gains, net HpUg A Rz - ) 13,174 10,474
Selling and distribution expenses SHEMSHEA (148,107) (131,508)
General and administrative expenses —MRITHEA (196,170) (166,935)

Operating profit A A 108,488
Finance income BRI 9 2,398
Finance costs BisER 9 (2,224)

Profit before income tax KR ET1S B A Al 108,662

Y 8 Q QRO
)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEZHEBER

Year ended 31st March 2023
HE-_T-_=F=A=+—HILFE

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME

Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may
be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Currency translation differences of foreign operations

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX OF NIL

2023
—EC-=F
HK$’000
FERT

F A A

Hih 2w (E518) W
AR E R R ENR R ER
w2 Eth 2 (BE) K
=
TINETS 2 BB E (23,704)

FREMEE (BE) G
BREHIERFE (23,704)
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2022
T

HK$'000

FET

79,793
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Se PRI R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg;-= —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiaE FET FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEKREE 13 88,810 86,180
Investment properties B 14 236,660 241,710
Intangible assets B EE 15 378,992 377,192
Right-of-use assets ERERE 16 66,131 70,094
Trade and other receivables BRI IE R EMmEREIE 17 19,298 17,360
Deferred tax assets REFH A 2= 25 1,242 2,566
791,133 795,102
Current assets TENEE
Financial assets at fair value through BASERFABRZ EREE
profit or loss 18 123,903 118,263
Inventories VER= 19 173,033 954,774
Trade and other receivables B SREYGIE R EMEYGRIE 17 562,223 807,078
Pledged deposits Gk 20 4,490 1,275
Cash and cash equivalents RERREZEER 20 425,154 485,495
1,288,803 2,366,385
Total assets EEHAE 2,079,936 3,161,987
EQUITY E=
Equity attributable to shareholders AN E R R PE(L S
of the Company
Issued capital BT 21 45,450 42 512
Reserves A 22 1,389,886 1,404,930
Total equity AR 1,435,336 1,447,442
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ara BRI &

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg=-= T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiaE FHET FHT
LIABILITIES =L
Current liabilities REBAE
Other borrowings HiEE 23 1,800 13,326
Trade and other payables B 5 [ 308 R E Ath A
HIE 24 553,634 1,598,474
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 18,456 14,570
Income tax liabilities Sl aE 15,224 27,267
589,114 1,653,637
Non-current liabilities FERBAR
Other borrowings HipgeE 23 - 1.043
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 52,737 56,723
Deposits received BlRE 26 2,564 2,065
Other non-current liabilities HitIEmBaE 185 177
55,486 60,908
Total liabilities 8E88 644,600 1,714,545
Total equity and liabilities KA EALE 2,079,936 3,161,987
Net current assets REEEZFE 699,689 713,248
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRRBEE 1,490,822 1,508,350

Approved by the Board of Directors on 21st June 2023:

Zhang Yifan

R

Chairlady and Executive Director

TEFRPTEF

Kenneth Kon Hiu King

TFrES)
Executive Director

HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31st March 2023

BE—_ T =F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

A ERREG
Issued capital Reserves Total
BRITRAE ] et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHBxT FAxT
(note 21) (note 22)
(MfzE21) (Ff7E22)
Balances as at 1st April 2021 R-IE-_—FWA—B2Z2&8% 27,258 1,217,809 1,245,067
Comprehensive income ZHEKE
Profit for the year F R T - 79,793 79,793
Other comprehensive income Eh2E K
Currency translation differences of  JESMNER ~ B E =48
foreign operations - 17177 17,177
Total other comprehensive income  H #h 2 E a5 4258 = 17,177 17,177
Total comprehensive income for FRZENZEEE
the year - 96,970 96,970
Open offer NS 5,452 33,255 38,707
Open offer expenses Nk b = 2,411) 2,411)
Placing of new shares BR & AR 7,085 32,776 39,861
Share options exercised BT R 2,717 17,434 20,151
Equity-settled share-based LARERS G E R AR T2 5
transactions - 9,097 9,097
Balances as at 31st March 2022 R-BE_—_F#=A=+—HK
and 1st April 2022 —E- A A i 42,512 1,404,930 1,447,442
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

Year ended 31st March 2023
HE-_T-_=F=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

AR B RREN
Issued capital Reserves Total
BBITRA R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT
(note 21) (note 22)
(Bt3E21) (BtaE22)
Balances as at 31st March 2022 R_FE-_—_F=A=+—HK
and 1st April 2022 —T__FNA—Bz&H 42,512 1,404,930 1,447,442
Comprehensive income ZHE K=
Profit for the year F R - 1,088 1,088
Other comprehensive loss A2 mEEE
Currency translation differences of  /GINERS 2 M E =55
foreign operations - (23,704) (23,704)

(23,704) (23,704)

(22,616) (22,616)

6,611 9,549

961 961

1,389,886




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERNER

Year ended 31st March 2023
HE-_T-_—F-A=-+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=-= T F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ks FHExT FHT
Cash flows from operating activities BRETHZHERE
Net cash flows from/(used in) operations CEREL (EA) 2
BehE T 27(b) 40,125 (252,741)
Interest paid BRFE (4,288) (2,224)
Mainland China corporate income tax paid A B A 2 S (4,212) (17,120)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BRBEEREH (5,480) (21,932)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating EEBEE (FR) 2]
activities SmEFRE 26,145 (294,017)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBZHERE
Additions to property, plant and equipment NEWE  BEREE (72,903) (85,032)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE  BENEREEE
plant and equipment Z TS R0R 27,023 38,917
Purchase of investment properties BEREYE - (186,848)
Additions of intangible assets NEEVEE (2,000) (3,500)
Deposit paid for acquisition of a business WE—IRER 2 BEffiRe (5,613) -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERANEFAER S
through profit or loss BhEE (42,009) (563,834)
Receipts from sales of financial assets at fair ~ $SEZRAREHABEZS
value through profit or loss BE E 2 Pl 39,606 564,441
Interest received EIF R 5,950 2,398
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits iR (M) R (3,215) 132
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEEZEAMER RS RE
F4E (53,161) (233,326)
Cash flows from financing activities REIBHCEHERE
Proceeds from open offer NREEERT 15 IR - 38,707
Open offer expenses PHEES - (2,411)
Placing of new shares fie & *ﬁﬁxﬁ - 39,861
Capital contribution from exercise of REITEEREEE
share options 9,549 20,151
New other borrowings L EAMEE - 21,808
Repayment of other borrowings EEHEMEES (13,469) (18,373)
Principal portion of lease payments HMENTKZ ARSI (19,078) (17,248)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

Year ended 31st March 2023
HE-_T-_—F-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—Eg-= T _F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
FitaE FERT FHT
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing RESEE T (E) EEZIR
activities EmEFE (22,998) 87,495
Decrease in cash and HeRkBESEEERAZRED
cash equivalents (50,014) (439,848)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHZ2RERHAELEEER
of year 485,495 922,411
Effect of foreign exchange rate HEE=SBHE  FH
changes, net (10,327) 2,932
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRCHRERBRESEEHIER 425,154 485,495
Analysis of balances of cash and cash ReRESEEBEBEHRIN
equivalents
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFEIRE 20 217,866 336,504
Non-pledged time deposits with original RESRRETZHE A=
maturity of three months or less when RS AT Z 3R e EY
acquired PEE Y 207,288 148,991
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RERE MIBSARA RS 23R
consolidated statement of financial position S RIBEEEIER 425,154 485,495

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited 1t 255K R& 12 B A PR A &



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MRk MY o

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the

following businesses during the year:

° hi-tech distribution and services: trading of surface
mount technology (“SMT”) assembly machinery and spare
parts and provision of related installation, training, repair and

maintenance services for SMT assembly machinery;

o leasing: provision of finance to its customers via a wide array
of assets under finance lease arrangements and operating

lease arrangements, and trading of lease assets; and

o property and investment holding.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company under the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (the “Companies Act”). The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
and that of its principal place of business is Suite 1618, 16th Floor,

Jardine House, 1 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These financial statements have been approved and authorised for

issue by the Company’s board of directors on 21st June 2023.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AL

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

1. EREEER @)

EHRHEARZESR

BERARARIEMBARZFBAOT

Percentage
Place of Issued of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ interest
registration registered held by
Name and business Principal activities share capital the Group
R BRTLER/ KEE
£ ERES 3k TEEH M RA FrisRERDL
American Tec Company Limited Hong Kong Trading of electronic products, HK$60,000,000 100%
ERETRRERAA 0 machinery and spare parts, 60,000,000 7T
provision of repair and
installation services and
investment holding
BETER EELRTHHEIN
BB R TR RERIRE
R
North Asia Strategic (HK) Limited (i) Hong Kong Provision of management services HK$1 100%
L TREE (B BRAF() &t and investment holding 18T
REEERBRIREER
North Asia Capital Limited () Hong Kong Investment holding US$100 100%
LTEEABRAR() B REER 100£7T
SEEREFRE (R BRAR The People’s Republic of China  Trading of electronic products, US$500,000 100%
(“NAS American Tec (Shenzhen) Co Limited”) (the “PRC")/Mainland China machinery and spare parts 500,0007T
(“Amtec Shenzhen”) (i)* thiE A\ RIAE ([RE]) /b and provision of repair and
I EEDEFRE ORI BRAR (TERI) (i) ) installation services
ETER KRERTHHEIU
RIBHREERTERS
North Asia Financial Leasing PRC/Mainland China Provision of finance leasing and US$15,000,000 100%
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (i B/ E R operating lease arrangement 15,000,000 %7T

IEeRARE (L) ARAR )

services
REREMEEREZHEERS
PR

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited 1t 255K R& 12 B A PR A &



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

EFEEREENEEEENDE

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

&8

BELtEREHE (R ERAR
(“Fuji North Asia Financial Leasing (Shenzhen)
Co Ltd.") (“Fuji Shenzhen”) (i)*
BLtERERE () BRAR (TELRI) )

Best Connect Enterprises Limited

EREEERAA

Great Rich Enterprises Limited

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business
AL
AR EHIE

PRC/Mainland China
B/ REA

Hong Kong
BB

Hong Kong

TERERER (&)

EHNEARZER (#)

Principal activities

TEEK

Provision of finance leasing and
operating lease arrangement
services

RUBEEEREEHERH
PR

Property holding
I3

Property holding

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRITLER/
R

US$30,000,000
30,000,000 70

Us$100
100%7T

HK$1

Percentage

of equity
interest

held by

the Group
A&E
FrisRER DL

100%




NOTES

TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AL

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(i

Shares of these companies are held directly by the Company. Shares
of the other companies are held indirectly.

These are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established in the PRC to
operate for up to 30 years until 2023 to 2044.

The English names of these entities represents the best effort made
by the management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese

names as no official English names have been registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or

formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these

financial statements are set out below. These policies have been

consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise

stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

which have been measured at fair value.

TEREBER (@)

ERNEATZER (F)
GEE

(i) WERBZBNHARRERFA - HHBA
B2 TIEEREE ©

(ii) WERBARFPEKILZINEBERE &
LHRZ=t+EHEE T =3 -Fmm
£ o

" HRZEERYBC SR 2 EAR A -
MAEBENEBIARRERERNERA
H XA EL -

ERFIEZRRERTEAEHFAREN
BRAEEEEMETZMO 2 AREIMBR
AEE - EERG - FIEMHEARSEH
RIEBNILE -

EXSHEEME

REMBHRREEA 2 TESHBREART
X BRARBERN  WEBRCRABZHRF
EERER -

21 REEE

BBBRRDBBEEEGAMNE ([
SETENAE ) R 2 BB RS ER
(TBEMBHRELER])) (BEMBEEE
MBmEEA - BEGHEA((FEE
HERD) RRE) BAAREFRA
REBRAGH 2 BBERERE - BRI
AREFABGEZEREE AR RE
BN MBERRERIBELKAE
PRS-

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited —Jt 35 REIER AR A T



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAETHE#E®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 2.2

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fuffiling a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
2018-2020 HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023

—EC=F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are

described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(“Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to
its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively
to business combinations that occurred on or after
1st April 2022. As there were no contingent assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities within the scope of
the amendments arising in the business combination
that occurred during the period, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and

performance of the Group.

2.

BEAREFTEHEME®)

2.2

EBRRREER S (#)

BB BRE R HERYE
HEMT -

(@)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items as determined by
HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use
on or after 1st April 2021. Since there was no sale
of items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or

performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that
relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfiling that contract (e.g., direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfiling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a
contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The Group has applied the amendments prospectively
to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at 1st April 2022 and no onerous contracts
were identified. Therefore, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or

performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023

—EC=F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

@

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be

applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the
other’ s behalf. The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1st April 2022. As there was no
modification or exchange of the Group s financial
liabilities during the year, the amendment did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

2.

BEAREFTEHEME®)

22 EBIHEREESEZ®E(E)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Insurance Contracts'

Insurance Contracts'®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 - Comparative

Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)?*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from

a Single Transaction'
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023

—EC=F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January
2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January
2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1 2022
Amendments, the effective date of the 2020 Amendments was
deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1st January
2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued
in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39
rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1st
January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to
the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply
it on initial application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to

be applicable to the Group is described below.

2. EAETEEHME®)
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain
or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are

available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination
over whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the
liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA
issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only
those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it has a
right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide
non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of
materiality to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments
to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is permitted.
Since the guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date
for these amendments is not necessary. The Group is
currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure

consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that
period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s

financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be
applied prospectively to transactions other than leases and
decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and
did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences for transactions related
to leases. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31st March 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the

investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

() the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders

of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that

such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31st March 2023
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2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a

loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in the statement of profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to the statement of
profit or loss or accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly

disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed

as incurred.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to

the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded

derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in

profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in the statement of profit or loss as

a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31st March. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group

are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not

reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation of and

the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in

their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the

asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable

inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
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2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly

or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as

a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a
cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,

to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss

been recognised for the asset in prior years.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

() the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Related parties (Continued)

®)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(0

(i)

(iv)

(V)

(vii)

(viil

same third party;

person identified in (a);

parent of the entity); and

the entity and the Group are members of the

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow

subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or

an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the

key management personnel of the entity (or of a

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel

services to the Group or to the parent of the
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and

location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with

specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs are
charged to the statement of profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life.
Their estimated useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvements 2 to 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 310 10 years
Motor vehicles 310 6 years
Plant and machinery and 3to 10 years

demonstration machinery
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end

of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater

than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognised in the

statement of profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful

lives. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:
Land Over the lease term
Buildings 2.5%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9

2.10

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of property
(calculated as difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or

loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Any impairment losses on investment properties are included
in the statement of profit or loss in the year in which they

arise.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year

end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to

finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Amortisation of customer relationships, distribution
agreements and club membership is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

Customer relationships 3to 4 years
Distribution agreements 3 years
Club membership 10 years

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023

—EC=F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:
Office properties and 2 t0 6.5 years
warehouses
Staff quarters 2 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

2.

BEAREFTEHEME®)

211 AE(E)

FEEEREMA (E)
@ EHEEE

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited —Jt 35 REIER AR A T

EREREENE SR A (A48
MEERER 2 A H) R - &
REEERRAREARAITE
REMREEBEGE  YHHEE
BEZERNEHRABIELFE -
EREEEZRABREDERE
ERESH CEEVIRERERK
2NN N SR A T ki
ENFRE MRz EFNEER
B EREEENGRHERFH

DHEEHAREEAE) AAE
BOEPTEWT ¢

WAEMERRE 2EB5E
BETES 24

WHEEEEZMEENEERR
BB EAEEIKNARRITERE
B AERAREEZ G ER
FHAERE -



2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or

condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there
is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase

the underlying asset.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F %}

2.

EASHBREBE &)

211 HE#E)

FEEEREMA (E)
© HERE

HEBERNESMN A BEnE
EHANEL 2 HENKRERE®
R HENABREENK (B
BEEREEN) B EREREER
B BURRE —HBEEL Rz
FHEN KRR FARIZE R E
EEFRPEXN 28 - HEN
AT BREAEESBREETEE
BEERZITEE  UHEES
RERT ARBETEL LAERE
o RIABKIEEENEN -
WIRBURN R — e Bk R 2 7]
SHEN TR RN R EMFX
ORI B R AR

REEHRENFERER - mRE
ETHBE 2N HEE &
SEREERKASERELS
BEME - KRBAHER  BE
BESEEN - ARBRFSIE N
Nt 2 BENFORD o It
Sh o fEHIRER - HEEE - 8
ERREE (s Bk KB EPT
B2 RREENHEE) HEER
MEEERERFGESR HE
BEZREESENTE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office properties
and warehouses (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in other income and gains in the statement
of profit or loss due to its non-operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the

period in which they are earned.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11

2.12

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases. At the commencement
date, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the lease payments and related payments (including
the initial direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an
amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The finance
income on the net investment in the lease is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic

rate of return over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value

through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
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2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through

profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value

through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on

their classification as follows:
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12

2.13

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or

impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as other

expense in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13

2.14

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates, if and to what extent, it has
retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that

reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,

including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of

recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed

below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

For finance lease receivables included in trade and other
receivables that contain a significant financing component, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the general
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described

above.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans

and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other

payables and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends

on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and

borrowings)

After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16

2.17

2.18

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under

the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is

recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously.

Share capital

Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares are

classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of

tax, from the proceeds.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19

2.20

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
price less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion

and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and

form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not

restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21

2.22

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be

made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or

loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and

unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can

be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22

2.23

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023

—EC=F=A=+—H

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

@

(b)

©

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to

the customer.

Incidental to the sale of machinery, the Group also
provides installation services in accordance with the
terms of the contracts with customers. These services,
which are not separately provided by the Group and
are bundled together with the sale of machinery to
customers, are combined with the sale of machinery
into a functional machinery for which the customers
have contracted. Accordingly, revenue from the sale of
machinery with installation services is recognised at the
point in time when the respective installation services

are completed.

Sales support services

Revenue from the provision of sales support services
is recognised at the point in time when the installation
services in relation to the underlying machinery are

completed.

Commission, other service and management fee

income

Commission, other service and management fee
income is recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group. Given that these services are
generally completed within a short period of time, the
revenue from the provision of these services is generally

recognised when the services have been rendered.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24

2.25

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Finance leasing income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the net investment of the finance lease or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount

of the net investment of the finance lease.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over

the lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for

equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an

external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end

of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance

conditions.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.26 Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service

conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the

date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilution effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per

share.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F %}

2.

EASHBREBE &)

226 LI #E)

SLREEM ISR N, FIRG G I oE
R TR B E - BHER
X T AR - MEBBRETISRIERE
&t - RIRNPRA Hh R R,/ SRR 16
HERZBERT  Tiwz M5 RIERE
RIFRBEK - ZEXPWRRFE

BB AER R 2 RENE - WES
ZRE 2 RB R AIERRIER
JEAN R EAEBR © UEHD - BRI ANBARY
XN ZAREREREB N2 EME
BiZER B IRt MR o

EREAE REEHEN  @RGFED
PEEEH B EAERE - I AR e R A% 22 B
REERZEAIF o BRI RN
BARKESEBZEHIANIERE R
2R - AT > ANATERTAL - fRE RESH 2R
BEHTAEE) - YRR E B ERE
E 2R - RIS T R SRR S B A
HRBRER 2 BRI -

SAESRANE - WARTTERRE 2 #
BYERRSRINIOESE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employees’ leave entitlement

Employees’ entitlement to annual leave and long
service leave is recognised when it accrues to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of the reporting period.

Employees’ entitlement to sick leave and maternity

leave is not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF

Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a percentage of the payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central

pension scheme.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27

2.28

2.29

Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses. It recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has

created a constructive obligation.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs

in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are

approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the

financial statements.

2. EAETHE#E®)

2.27

2.28

2.29
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

2,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Foreign currency translation

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement

of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or |loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each

payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain group companies are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end
of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong

dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the “Cumulative
translation adjustments” under reserves. On disposal of an
operation with currency other than the Hong Kong dollar, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular operation is recognised in the statement of profit or

loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at

the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain group companies with functional
currency other than the Hong Kong dollar are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of these group
companies which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates

for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair value interest
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

Risk management is carried out by the finance department
of the Company under policies approved by the board of
directors. The finance department identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s
operating units. The board of directors provides written
principles for overall risk management, as well as written
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivative financial
instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and

investment of excess liquidity.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the United
States dollar (the “US dollar”), Japanese Yen,
and Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net

investments in foreign operations.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

()

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Management has set up a policy to require
entities within the Group to manage their foreign
exchange risk against their functional currencies.
Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets
or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is

not the entity’s functional currency.

The Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the US
dollar (‘US$”) at a range of rates between 7.75
and 7.85, and therefore, the foreign exchange
exposure between the US dollar and the Hong

Kong dollar is limited.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed to

foreign currency translation risk.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. M¥EBRER®
AND POLICIES (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BBEBEZEE)
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) mHEEE)
() Foreign exchange risk (Continued) 0 SMNEESE ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity TR M AEIFT
at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably FZERT  AEERATE
possible change in the Yen and RMB exchange FRRTE A BB kA REE
rate, with other variables held constant, of the REEAIRERE) 2 BKE ©
Group’s profit before income tax.
Increase/
(decrease)
Change in in profit
exchange before
rates income tax
B BT 4S8 B A
EXEE #m, GRd)
% HK$’'000
% FHAIT
2023 —EBC-=HF
If Yen weakens against HK$ fis) BB 5 B T B2 B 1,221
If Yen strengthens against HK$ fis) B B 5 B T AHE (1,221)
If RMB weakens against HK$ fig AR ¥ KA TR E (9,968)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ AR BITHE 9,968
2022 —E-fF
If Yen weakens against HK$ fis) B B 5 B T B2 B 1,746
If Yen strengthens against HK$ fit B B X ST HE (1,746)
If RMB weakens against HK$ i AR H BT E 6 (14,471)
If RMB strengthens against HK$ i NR¥E KA T HHE 6 14,471
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets at floating rates except for cash and cash
equivalents, its income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in

market interest rates.

The cash and cash equivalents earn interest at
floating rates and expose the Group to cash flow

interest rate risk.

The finance lease receivables earn interest at
fixed rates and expose the Group to fair value

interest rate risk.

The interest rate risk from financial liabilities
arises from borrowings. Borrowings that are
subject to variable rates expose the Group to

cash flow interest rate risk.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023

—EC=F=A=+—H

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, finance lease receivables and certain other

receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate financial
strength and an appropriate percentage of down
payment. It also has other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group regularly reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual receivable
to ensure that adequate loss allowance is made
for irrecoverable amounts. The Group implements
its industry risk management system according to
its plan based on the actual situation with a focus
on industry research, customer credit rating, and
understanding of the lessee’s operations and financial
condition. The Group also obtained deposits from
lessees as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk, with exposure spreading

over a number of counterparties and customers.

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting
period, and management does not expect any losses
from non-performance by counterparties, except
as disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group does not hold any collateral as
security except for finance leasing operation, for which
in the event of default, the Group may demand return
of finance lease assets, repossession of finance lease
assets or disposal of finance lease assets, whichever is
appropriate.

3.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31st March.

As at 31st March 2023

3.
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12-month
ECLs
12f88
REEERE

Lifetime ECLs

HRARERE

Stage 1
£1Ea
HK$ 000

TR

Simplified

Stage 3 approach
BRI fifnE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn TEx

348,815




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR E IR

31st March 2023
—ET-_=—F=A=+—H

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

3.

BERREEE)

3.1 HHEREZEE)
(b) EEEREE(E)

REEERFEEER ()

As at 31st March 2022 R=ZE=——F=H=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12f8R
BHREER RHBSEEER
Simplfied

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EAL FokEk LRI BltrE a5t
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000

ThL Fhn Thn Thn Fhr




3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

. For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based
on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 17.

* The credit quality of other financial assets included
in trade and other receivables is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables

are disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by

maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient

cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve which comprises undrawn borrowing
facilities and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of
expected cash flows. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, and to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in

the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
by maturity based on the remaining period at the end
of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flows.

3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

At 31st March 2023

Financial iablties included!in trade and AR S REMER A
other payables SRAR
- Bhie

On demand or
less than

1year
BRERA-EUR
HK$000

Tin

316,469
3,795
2,053

BERREEE)

3.1

18,670

MEEREE (&)

(c)

FBELEE (H)

2to5
years
312
HK$'000
Fin

6,359
2,053
78247




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to

reduce debt.

During the year ended 31st March 2023, the Group’s strategy,
which was unchanged from last year, was to maintain a net
cash position. Net cash position is calculated as cash and
cash equivalents less other borrowings and lease liabilities.

The net cash positions as at 31st March 2023 and 2022 were

MR EREEE)

32 EXEBEE

AEEEREAZ BRDAREAEE
BEAHE BRI B B LS - ARl
EBCR B R E MRS E M - AR
FEEZEARBRDERKA

RERFIGIRERRE - AEERHE
ENBERZBEBSE MBRREEE
K BOIHBROILEEEARDE
7 o

REE-FT-_=F=-A=+—HIHF
B AEESREF 2R - BRFR
SR - FREMANIERERREE
BEEEREMEBRAREESEE -
REZBE—=FR-_F-__F=A=+—

analysed as follows: A2 SRR AT
31st March 31st March
2023 2022
—EC=HF T F
=A=+-A =A=+-A
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Cash and cash equivalents (note 20) RekBELEAEER (FE20) 425,154 485,495
Less: Other borrowings (note 23) B EEE (FizEes) (1,800) (15,269)
Lease liabilities (note 16) HEAE(ME16) (71,193) (71,293)
Net cash e F5 352,161 398,933
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.3

Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade, bills and other
receivables, trade and other payables and other borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to short

term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The corporate finance
team reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit
committee. At each reporting date, the corporate finance
team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim

and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:

The fair values of finance lease receivables have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The carrying
amounts of finance lease receivables approximate to their fair

values.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

3.3

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. HMBERERE®)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial 33 @MIAZAARBERANEBEZSRE)
instruments (Continued)
The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets BEABZ MEMERFIEREMEE
included in trade and other receivables and other borrowings NEMEERBDI D ANERER
have been calculated by discounting the expected cash flows OG- EERBESBRTFH TR
using rates currently available for instruments with similar WITFEREIRFBHAR @R E 27 NG
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair B o RXEBARAFR_ZT_=FK=F
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for T =A=+—BHE@EFFEEMEER
interest-bearing other borrowings as at 31st March 2023 and ZTRARRERN 2 N EZESLETTE
2022 were assessed to be insignificant. ‘BT RE -
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIVTPLASESCHMTAZ AAERE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: 4
Assets measured at fair value: AARBEFECEE
As at 31st March 2023 R-B-=F=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ARTIEBETZARBHE
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BATBE ERFABE
TiERE BAHE BAHE
(& 51-) (&B1=) (RBI=) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THET THET THET THET
Financial assets at fair value through ~ IRAAE ABRZ S BERE
profit or loss 123,903 - - 123,903
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

3.3

Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial

instruments (Continued)

As at 31st March 2022

MR EREE )

33 ERMIAZAAERAABERE)

R-_ZE-_—F=H=+—H

Fair value measurement using
MRTFISIBETZ AAERE

Quoted Significant Significant

prices in observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EAAEHE BEANHE

5 RE BARE EN ¢
(B51=) (BHI1=) (BHI=) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL FET FET

Financial assets at fair value through AR ABRZ ERIEE

profit or loss 117,801 462 - 118,263

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers

into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial

liabilities (2022: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31st March 2023 and 2022.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and

liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure

of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and

estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Provision for expected credit losses on trade

receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar

loss patterns (i.e., by customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. At the reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the

forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forward-looking information. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking estimates may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables

is disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill is impaired in
accordance with the accounting policies stated in note 2.4
to the financial statements. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired has been allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit which is reviewed for impairment based
on forecast operating performance and cash flows. The
recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
has been determined based on value in use calculations.
Cash flow projection is prepared on the basis of reasonable
assumptions reflective of prevailing and future market

conditions, and cash flows are discounted appropriately.

4,

AESHAET R HE 2)

4.1

4.2

BZBRURRRAEEERRE

AEEERBREMEAEE S RIFR
MEREEEE - BEXDERARS
EERN (P RE) T REP S
MESBHBEMETE -

BEERENTERAEBEEEBRRMAE
BHOERMEE - AEBEKABRER
HARAREENBEREEEREEERL
e RBERHY  BEBEMSENR
1 TEH - WEDIARE LGS -

HEELEAENRRBHEEBEZ
HEAMBEAGE - EHEESERY
=T ER RATEEER 2 # B UK - A
5 82 2R = B B8 48 B8 K A BE MG 5T
AT NABRBREFBEZERED
RS - BAEEE ZEWGKIET = B8
BHEEEIBZER R RERN =
17 R -

AR ARG

AEBRRUBI/ERME 24528
AEREK - BFEARBEA S HREMR
B-REARTE - ARBEEELS
EEERREELEN - MARMELTD
RBRAEERA LR RERITBE -
BEIRSELEM RO SEIZE
REEFEEEE - REREFRRIZAT
RRIBITRARETIR - URBRERZE
BREGE  WEEMWETRR -
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

4.3 Provision for expected credit losses on other financial

assets included in trade and other receivables

The ECLs for finance lease receivables and other financial

assets included in trade and other receivables apart from

the financial assets mentioned in note 4.1 above are based

on assumptions about probability of default and expected

loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these

assumptions and selecting inputs to the ECLs calculations,

based on the Group’s historical loss record, current conditions

as well as forward-looking information.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

5.1 Revenue

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

BREsHETH R HE (@)

4.3

FFABS REMEBRREANEtERE
ExRBFEBRRE

B XK P 2 2 REESD - &
ANE 5 REYGRIA R B A YRR B E
HERYFIEN SR EE BHE
EERVRABENIRE RIAHER
RZRBREFE - AREAEREER
BETERE I F R BB A B
BAKBEERERLCE - B RATHEE
BRIERHIE -

WAR S EER

5.1

WA

WADHTANT

2023 2022
—g-= —ET_—fF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers  REHEBEZEFSHZWA ()
(note)
Recognised at a point in time: RE—REER -
Sale of goods HEEM 2,144,159 2,253,965
Sales support services $HE X ERS 42,171 106,044
Recognised over time: R—ER AR
Commission and other service income A& K EM AR A 37,840 38,197
2,224,170 2,398,206
Revenue from other sources REEMIRZ A
Income from finance lease arrangements KEBERELTEZ WA 7,423 9,330
Income from operating lease arrangements RELEHRELHE 2 WA 35,049 37,614
2,266,642 2,445,150
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR E IR

31st March 2023
—E-_=#=HA=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARZDEER#)
(Continued)
5.1 Revenue (Continued) 51 WA#E)
Note: MiE
Disaggregated revenue information DHFWAER
Geographical markets HhlE 75
2023 2022
—EB-=HF -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
The PRC including Hong Kong R - BEEE 2,173,651 2,297,750
Asia — others oM — Efth 50,519 100,456
Total revenue from contracts with customers ~ REEFF &4 2 AU 2,224,170 2,398,206

Set out below is the reconciliation of the amounts disclosed in the TREFDEERATEREZ SHEEREFER

Hi-tech
distribution
and services Leasing

operation operation Total

ERRERD#H
RBRHH HEXK st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FTAERT FHERT

2,130,305 136,337 2,266,642
- (42,472) (42,472)

2,130,305 2,224,170



5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

WAR D EEF ()

(Continued)
5.1 Revenue (Continued) 51 WA#E)
Note: (Continued) MisE : (48)
Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) DIFRAEHR ()
Geographical markets (Continued) iz ()
Hi-tech
distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation Total
SRR E
2R
7% HEXH #Bst
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHT FET
For the year ended 31st March 2022 HE—_T_—&F
=RA=+—HItLFE
Sales to external customers HINEPINE 2,339,140 106,010 2,445,150

Less: Revenue from other sources

A | BOTRZ A

(46,944) (46,944)

A Ep——

2023
—EBC-=F
HK$’000
FHT

939,826



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

5.1

5.2

Revenue (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised
below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied when the control of the goods
is transferred, generally on delivery of goods and when the respective
installation services are completed. Payment is generally due within
5 to 180 days from completion of installation. Payment in advance is
normally required.

Sales support services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the installation services in
relation to the underlying machinery are completed. Payment is made
based on the terms stipulated in the relevant agreements.

Commission and other service income

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and payment is generally due upon completion of services,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

The amount of unsatisfied performance obligation principally comprises
the balance of contract liabilities as at 31st March 2023 and 2022,

which is expected to be recognised in one year.

Operating segment information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into two
major reportable operating segments — hi-tech distribution
and services, and leasing. The hi-tech distribution and
services operating segment derives revenue from the sale of
goods, sales support services, commission and other service
income. The leasing operating segment derives revenue from
finance lease and operating lease arrangements, and trading

of lease assets.

5. WARZSEEHR#)

5.1

5.2

WA (&)

BiaE : (4%)

BHEFE

BRANEEBELNEE2ERBIT

HER

BRARERERE RIEHER (—RNRNE
m R B AR ERIE TR T o R —MRRN
ZRTEHIZEE1BORAEHIESN - M —R
PIYSEb AN e

HESRIRF

BREER EAAEERE BN LT EKRETK
BESERK © (T FRIRARRE Bk AR TE HO IR BRAETT o

2 KB IRFEIMA

BREERRHRISE —REMATK -
NR—RRTERRISK I REN - TP
Al —MRZATASENIEK -

HABTERNEEZERIZEER=-F
—EFERZE_F=A=t+—HZAEHE
B4R - ARGHRTRIRE - FAER -

RENWER

MEEMS  AKED AMEEEAH
BRENE — SMRERD HERH
AREE - SRRERD HRREEZE
DEZBANRBHEEER - HEER
% AE REMRBRA - HEKZD
BZBRAREREEEREEHER
NFHEEEES °
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

5.2

Operating segment information (Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before income tax. The adjusted profit/loss before income tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before
income tax except that finance income, finance costs, fair
value gain/loss from the Group’s financial instruments as well
as corporate and other unallocated expenses are excluded

from such measurement.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, right-of-use assets, other non-
current assets, inventories and trade and other receivables.
Unallocated assets comprise investment properties, deferred
tax assets, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents and corporate

and others.

Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other
payables, deposits received, lease liabilities and other non-
current liabilities. Unallocated liabilities comprise income tax

liabilities, other borrowings and corporate and others.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant
and equipment, investment properties, intangible assets and

right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR E IR

31st March 2023
—ET-_=—F=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARZEER®)
(Continued)
5.2 Operating segment information (Continued) 52 RKREFEER(E)
There were no significant sales between the operating REBEE_Z_=FR-_FT__F=A
segments during the years ended 31st March 2023 and =t+—HIEFE  LESBEMTEEX
2022. The operating results for the year are as follows: HE o« FRLEFEENT ¢
Year ended 31st March 2023
HE-B-=F=A=1-HALEE
Hi-tech
distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation Total
BNEER
DERRE
¥ HEEH st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'00
FiEx FiEn THET
Revenue WA
- Sales to external customers - HNRPE 2,130,305 136,337 2,266,642
Segment results DREEE 42,299 20,242 62,541

2,167

839
5,950
(4,288)
(62,658)

4,551
(3,463)

(5,798)
8

(173)




5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (Continued)

WAR D EEF ()

52 KEFWER(E)

Year ended 31st March 2022

HE-T-_—F=A=t—RALEE
Hi-tech
distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation Total
BRRER
DERIRS
£ HEER &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THET AT
Revenue WA
- Sales to external customers - HNRPE 2,339,140 106,010 2,445,150
Segment results NEEE 172,431 6,337 178,768
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value ~ HER AR EFTABR 2L REE
through profit or loss i 1,023
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair BAREFANBREZ SREEZD
value through profit or loss REE 15
Finance income BERA 2,398
Finance costs BH%5ER (2,224)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses CEREMRIEER (71,318)
Profit before income tax BRATE BT R 108,662




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 R 2R Y

31st March 2023
—ET-_=—F=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (Continued)

The segment assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

5. WARZEER @)

52 KEFWER (&)

N

BEPRZOBMEERABNT ¢

Hi-tech
distribution
and services
operation
BNRER
DERRY
%
HK$'000
TER

Leasing
operation

REXEYK
HK$'000
TiEgn

Total

&3t
HK$'000
TiEn

At 31st March 2023

R=B-=F=A=t-H

1,008,188

1,275,578

236,660
1,242

123,903
4,490
425,154
12,900

2,079,936

625,709

15,224
1,800
1,867




EFEEREENEEEENDE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARZDEER#)
(Continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (Continued) 5.2 RXESFER (&)

Hi-tech distribution
and services Leasing
operation operation
BRRER
D HRRE
7% HEX st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT TR

At 31st March 2022 RZE-Z—F=A=+-H

ASSETS A
Segment assets HEBE 2,040,792 262,102 2,302,894
Unallocated assets: ADBEE :
Investment properties REN= 241,710
Deferred tax assets BEHREE 2,566
Financial assets at fair value through BAREHAERZ
profit or loss SHEE 118,263




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023

—EC=F=A=+—H

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

5.2 Operating segment information (Continued)

Geographical information

@)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

The Group’s activities are conducted predominantly
in Hong Kong, Mainland China and the rest of Asia.
Revenue by geographical location is determined on the
basis of the destination of shipment of goods for the hi-
tech distribution and services operating segment and
the location of the customers by the leasing operating

segment.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s

revenue by geographical location:

5.

WARDEER (&)
52 RESBERE)
@ FKELEIEFZHA

AEBEXBIENES  FEA
2 BN EL At b 7T HE AT o HR IR
MBS D 2 WARSHREmRD
HERBEENBENEERZE
MR EEXEBHIREP Z
HEERE °

TRERZMWEMES D 2 ANE
EWADHT :

2023 2022
—EBC-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
The PRC including Hong Kong FE - BIERS 2,216,123 2,344,694
Asia — others Tl - Efh 50,519 100,456
2,266,642 2,445,150
Non-current assets b) FETEEE

The geographical information of non-current assets
is not presented since over 90% of the Group’s non-
current assets are located in the PRC (including Hong

Kong).
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EFEEREENEEEENDE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

5.2

Operating segment information (Continued)

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31st March 2023, revenue of
HK$764,500,000 was derived from sales to a customer of the

hi-tech distribution and services operating segment, which
accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue.

Revenue from major customers is set out below:

Customer 1

5.

WARDEEFR (@)

52 KEFWER(E)

EHETEEFZEH

RBE-_ZE_=F=A=+—HILHF
&+ Y8 A 764,500,000 7T T3 3K A (A i
RBEGOEERBLEEIE—ER
FEHZHE  hASEEBKRAZR
10% °

KEEEEFZBABIMT

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E_—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AL

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net is as follows:

6.

Htp WA R W - B

REE 2 HA R WE - FE 2 T

2023 2022
—EBo=F —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and HEWE - BER&EREE 2 WS
equipment, net FEE 173 =
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value RERAAEFABREZERHEEL
through profit or loss e - 1,028
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value BAREGABRZSREEY
through profit or loss NAEEE) 2,167 15
Interest income of financial assets at fair value through  E AR EFABRZ S RIEEZ
profit or loss FEUWA 839 -
Government grants (note) R Bh (B aE) 8,028 4,751
Exchange gain, net SNEUES © SFFE - 3,153
Others Hfth 1,967 1,632
13,174 10,474
Note: D

Various government grants have been received in respect of the Group’s

PRC subsidiaries in relation to import discount interest funds, a subsidiary for

being a high technology enterprise and one-off subsidies for stabilisation of

employment related to COVID-19.

The government grants received have been recognised in “other income

and gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. There were no

unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants as at 31st March

2023 (2022: Nil).

ERAEEFEMNBARFEAMBRIEES  —
FHEAREARRIBREEURAEBEREMES
2019 T AR = R HE BE A — 0 14 0 AL JEER 2% TE R 4
ﬁj] °

TR BT B E AR A ek P [ E Al A K
Was  FRE] PERR - RZTE_=F=A=+—
H - %55 B 3 8 AR IE B RO 15 14 38 B 2 4B RA RO sk
AEFH(ZZEZ_F : &|&) -
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PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold

Net foreign exchange loss/(gain)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment properties

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Employment costs

Other lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of trade
and bills receivables, net

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of finance

4

EFEEREENEEEENDE

EEFERAR

SNERSIR, (Yas) F AR

BEYESE

EREEETE

B AR

B

THAGTEHEREL
EMAENR

B P NIRRT
CRUERE) RE - FHE

mEEEERIERE

159

BRET S B AT R

AEEZBAEHRMEMENSR,GEA) T

5I1&I18

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FET

1,864,486
26,306
37,401

5,050
22,954
200
194,215

604

(5,798)

(2,167)

HK$'000
THTL

1,949,391
(3,153)
41,925
2,561
17,967

177,703

1,365

2,164




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS

An analysis of employment costs including the emoluments of the

directors and chief executive and the five highest paid individuals of

the Group is as follows:

8.

(S 2%

BEAE (BREAEEEERESITHRARZ
e kABEeHFALTZME) DTWT

2023 2022

—EC=HF —T-—fF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Directors’ fees Yok 2,880 1,932
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e o R REYA R 144,686 119,404
Discretionary bonuses BYISTEAT 27,096 30,609
Equity-settled share options expenses PARGHEAEE 7 BERRAER S 961 9,097
Retirement benefits — defined contribution schemes*  iEAKIEH] — R ks~ 18,592 16,661
194,215 177,703

(@)

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”),
a defined contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group (the employer)
and each of its employees make monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as defined
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The monthly contribution of each of the employer
and employees is subject to a cap of HK$1,500 (2022:
HK$1,500) per employee and any further contributions are

voluntary.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in Mainland China,
the Group contributes to state-operated retirement plans for
its employees in Mainland China. The employees contribute
fixed percentages of their basic salaries as required by
the local authorities while the Group contributes a further
amount as required by the local authorities. The Group has
no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or
post-retirement benefits beyond these contributions. The
state-operated retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

(a)

AR B E R E PR ESOR IR E AR
BEHFKF -

AEBERLHETERESHERHER
Berrgl(aEestall) zEtalh—
BB ZEAEE 2 R RS
BEARESE - AEE(EEX) REE
BEGRAZEEBBRA(EERES
SR EIME DB R ETENEG]) 2 5% MFHEl{E
EHF - EEREESHZEARKE
RAESEES1,5008T(ZE =2
1,500/ 70) - MEEREEIMERTIE B
[ o

BREAMZ R RRBIFTETER - AN
B AETBEAMER B KSR 2 RIK
AR o BRI AR E < B
FreBEEA SR MAKBAIRZ
ST AR E 2 BN R HK - FREX
EHEFON - AREHEELE - S INER
BASIRKRRENZEE - ZFEBR
SRR BIZAAREMERKERX M
EEERARS -
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EFEEEREREENEERENDE

8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (Continued)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

R ()
(b) ES=HS

RIZEGEM LR A » BB R RIEHIE
383(1)@) * (b) * O MK A (HE
EEFZER)BHFE 2 BT 2 FENE

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EHMT -
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
Salaries, Equity- Employer's
allowances settled contributions
and benefits Discretionary share options to retirement
Fees in kind bonuses expenses schemes Total
e 2R NRELEEZ S P
[k ENRE RigkL BRERR B 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TER TER TR




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR E IR

31st March 2023
—E-_=#=HA=+—H

8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (Continued) 8. {EfERiA#)
(b) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (b) E=B<EE)
Salaries, Equty- Employer's
alowances seffled contrioutions
and benefts Discretionary share options toretirement
Fees inkind bonuses €XpEnses schemes Total
e BHR RS, RIfGHEZ
e Ehils T BRER LR bt
HK$1000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
THn FHn THr Tin TEn Fhn
2022 “3-0F
Executive directors HEs
Ms. Zhang Yifan Fxt 30 5,580 20,000 1465 18 27,363
M Pierre Tou Kivong Ming HEREE 30 2470 - 1,465 18 4253
Mr. Kenneth Kon Hiu King* TROAE 400 658 200 269 6 1,633

Independent non-executive directors  BYEHTES
Mr. Joseph Liang Hsien Tse DELES 400 - - 27 - 41
Mr. Joseph Chan Nap Kee: RuEts 400 - - xa - 47
Dr. Cai Qing™ 2Rt 132 - - - - 132




8. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (Continued) 8. {EEmAE )
(c) Five highest paid individuals (c) BBRERSHAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in AEBRFRNHEEZRZABATEE

ME(CE-_—F: MA)ES - Hife
BN XL (b) 2,2 A RAR - F
ANENARRESHFALZMEMT -

the Group for the year include 2 (2022: 2) directors, whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note

(b) above. The emoluments payable to the five highest paid

individuals during the year are as follows:

2023 2022

—E-=F =S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYNE 14,091 15,584
Discretionary bonuses BYIBIEAL 23,910 29,292
Equity-settled share options expenses LARRAE A E 2 B AR AR 192 5816
Employer’s contributions to retirement schemes R KETE] 2 (B F 45K 208 203
38,401 50,895

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals fell within AEmmT ATMEETHIEHER

the following bands:

2023 2022
—EBC-=H e St =

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AH A

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 775 % 4,500,000 47T 2 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7752 5,000,000 47T - 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7 75 % 6,000,000 A 7T - 1
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 7752 7,000,000 #7T 1 =
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 7,000,001 7752 7,500,000 7% 7T 1 =
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,500,001 7752 9,000,000 47T - 1
HK$15,500,001 to HK$16,000,000 15,500,001 #7TE 16,000,000 770 1 =
HK$27,000,001 to HK$27,500,000 27,000,001 /71,2 27,500,000 47T - 1
5 5
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

10.

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 9. HBVUARER
An analysis of finance income and costs is as follows: BB ARERDHTAT :
2023 2022
—EBC=HF —T_—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHIT
Finance income: WA -
Interest income from bank deposits RITERZFEMA 5,950 2,398
Finance costs: BEER
Interest on other borrowings Hinfg & 2 FE 797 1177
Interest on lease liabilities HEABEZHE 3,491 1,047
4,288 2,224
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FfEHiXH

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until 2035.
Hong Kong profits tax has been calculated at the rate of 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year,
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000
(2022: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this subsidiary is
taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits
are taxed at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%).

Subsidiaries established in Mainland China are subject to Mainland
China corporate income tax at the standard rate of 25% (2022:
25%).

RAREREHMNAREREEEZE_ZT=4
F o BETERFFE NG ERTOR MR K
16.5% (ZZFT == : 16.5%) 518 ' EAEE
BIEFE TR EMRGAEERER . —HHE
AEBR SN o %I A &) & 2,000,000 7T (=
T = ZF : 2,000,000 7T ) Z fE R T v F 1%
L 8.25% (ZT =4 : 8.25%) HFt + mek
TREARB & FI AR E16.6% (2T ==
16.5%) Ak ©

P B A3 B S 2 Y B R BRI 25% (—F
T 25%) ZIRERRGMT BA DR
F1SHE

North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited 1t 255K R& 12 B A PR A &



10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

EFEEEREREENEERENDE

The amounts of income tax expense recorded in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss represent:

Current taxation
Hong Kong profits tax
— current year
— overprovision in prior years
Mainland China corporate income tax
— current year
— (over)/underprovision in prior years
Deferred

EHTE

EBTEH

- REE

- BEFERERE

ek ST

- REE

- BEFE (BEERE) BETR
IRAE

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FET

2022
T

— =

HK$'000
THTL

27,495
(8,768)

8,809

1,690
(357)

28,869




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

10.

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before income
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense
at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates

(i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates are as follows:

FRGBIZH ()

BARRIRERE D B R R DA E R
ETE R KRG E 2 A B P S B A A B R R
MERFAE 2 RIEMS 2 $ K - U RBERHRE
(BLEERR) RERB R 2 HIRMT

2023 2022
—ECD=H — T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Profit before income tax R 1S8R & A 4,551 108,662
Tax calculated at the average domestic tax rates REARBERNAEERE T 2 T8
applicable to profits in the respective jurisdictions AR E 2 Hi1E 1,678 19,336
Tax effect of: BT E
— income not subject to tax - BIERBZ WA (5,292) (4,811)
— expenses not deductible for tax - ARz 2 11,001 16,894
— adjustments of current tax in respect of previous - BRBE AR BN EAR A 2 A%
periods (9,230) (7,078)
— tax losses not recognised - RERZHIEER 5,216 4,628
Tax expense IEZ 3,463 28,869

For the year ended 31st March 2023, the weighted average
applicable tax rate was 36.9% (2022: 17.8%). The change in the
weighted average applicable tax rate is caused by a change in the
profitability of the Group’s subsidiaries in the respective jurisdictions.

DIVIDENDS 11.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31st March 2023 (2022: Nil).

REBEE_T_=F=ZA=+—HLEE"
BAMEFHOHEABBIN(ZT ==
17.8%) © i FA Nt T A5 = & B) 75 i R HE RS
AEERR CASENREAR 2 BFEEHE S
FITEK »

Hﬁz%\

EEfESRENEE—_E-—==A=+—H
EFEEZEMBRE(ZE_—F : &) o
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12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s
profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted in the
calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31st March 2022 has been adjusted retrospectively to reflect
the impact of the Open Offer (as defined in note 21(a) to the financial

statements) completed on 13th May 2021.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation was the total of the number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to
have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all

share options.
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A
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T=AZRZAREE (EERMBHREME
21(a)) 252 o

BB E E R iR AN N A E AR AR R (R T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR E IR

31st March 2023
—ET-_=—F=A=+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. ARARIEERBRRELMEREBFN &)
ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based FREARREBRF 2 AEEENT :
on:
2023 2022
—EB-=F —F-_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Earnings EF
Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company, ARG EEREARREERFZ ANAR
used in the basic and diluted earnings per share R ER (R F)
calculation 1,088 79,793
Number of shares
RHBE
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—

427,379,426

428,057,716




EEEEREREEEEEREND

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% BERZE
Furniture, Plant and
fixtures machinery and
Leasehold and office Motor  demonstration
improvements equipment vehicles machinery Total
HENE B RER B R
% WAZRE AE RREHE Fak il
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TET TER TET TR TER
31st March 2023 —8-=#£=8=1+-H
At 1st April 2022: R-B-—4#mA-R:
Cost AR 17,383 22474 13,980 122,501 176,338
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (13,456) (13,449) (8,192 (55,061) (90,158)
Net carrying amount EEFE 3,927 9,025 5,788 67,440 86,180

67,440 86,180
57,777 72,903
(26,566) (26,850)
(30,322) (37,401)
(3,863) (6,022)

25,044 13,043 202,840
(16,363) (8,173) (114,030

8,681 4,870 88,810




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R AL

31st March 2023
—E-_=F=A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

13. Y%  BERRE#)

Furniture, Plant and
fixtures machinery and
Leasehold and office Motor demonstration
improvements equipment vehicles machinery Total
HE ik XBR TR Rag
mEEE WAERE AE DAR TSRS ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FTHT
31st March 2022 —2--f=fA=1-H
At 1st April 2021: RZZE-—FMA—H:
Cost RAE 13,427 18,748 7,780 92,453 132,408
Accumulated depreciation A E (9,592) (10,685) (5,096) (28,365) (53,738)
Net carrying amount FEFE 3,835 8,063 2,684 64,088 78,670
At 1st April 2021, net of accumulated R-Z-_—FEMA—H  HK
depreciation ZEHiTE 3,835 8,063 2,684 64,088 78,670
Additions hE 1,986 3,440 6,152 73,454 85,032
Disposals HE (20) (50) 63) (38,937) (39,070)
Depreciation (note 7) & (HaE7) (2,493) (2,679 (3,038) (33,719) (41,925)
Exchange realignment i i A& 619 251 53 2,550 3473
At 31st March 2022, net of accumulated  A=Z-—#=HA=+—H "
depreciation MR EEHTE 3,927 9,025 5,788 67,440 86,180
At 31st March 2022: R-ZE-_—F=A=+—-H:
Cost KAE 17,383 22,474 13,980 122,501 176,338
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (13,456) (13,449) (8,192) (55,061) (90,158)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,927 9,025 5,788 67,440 86,180
At 31st March 2023, certain of the Group’s borrowings were RZZEZ=F=A=+—8 A£EETRE

secured by property, plant and equipment of HK$9,822,000 (2022:

HK$15,269,000) (note 23(0)).
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

31st March 2023
At 31st March 2022:

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1st April 2022, net of accumulated depreciation
Depreciation (note 7)

At 31st March 2023, net of accumulated depreciation

At 31st March 2023:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

EFEEREENEEEENDE

14. BEYHE

HK$'000
TAT

—E-=f=A=+-H
T —HF=R=+—H:

KAME 244,271
ZEHE (2,561)

AREFE

ZFMA—A - MR EsHTE 241,710
& (feE7) (5,050)

R-T-=F=A=+—H " NBRRIE
R-E-_=F=A=+—8:

FRAME 244,271
BEHiTE (7,611)

171
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31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March
2023 was approximately HK$245,000,000 (2022: HK$244,500,000).
The valuation performed by Access Partner Professional Services
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers, was made by
reference to comparable sales transactions as available in relevant

market.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of the

investment properties as at 31 March 2023 are determined.

REWE (#)

AEEREMENR-_Z_=F=A=+—H2Z
A LA B #) 245,000,000 T(—ZE ==
244,500,000 7C) - MBI EE & EBEE
MR EEERBARA ST ZMENSZE
HETIS EATELRIEER S o

TR BANAEERENEN_—FT_=F
ZA=T—BZARERNER -

Fair value Fair value at
hierarchy 31 March 2023 Valuation technique and key inputs
R=B-=%=A
DABEER S+-HZARE AERNRESEARE
HK$'000
FET
Investment properties Level 2 48,500 to 196,000 Market comparison approach

(2022: 48,500 to 196,000)

BEME RR= 48,500 & 196,000
(ZB=—F:
48,500 2 196,000)

— By reference to recent sales price of comparable
properties on a price per square foot basis
using market data which is publicly available

TS

- 2ZRRHNETSEERE 2 TELRY% -
BT A RERREEZAHHEER
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EEEEREREEEEEREND

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. BEEE

Customer Distribution Club
Goodwill relationships agreements membership

2E EFRE 7 ithR BeNeE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TR TAL TR

31st March 2023 ZB-=%ZA=1-H

At 31st March 2022 and
1st April 2022:

Cost i 19,010 16,750 412,952
Accumulated amortisation H (19,010) (16,750) (35,760)

Net carrying amount h: 373,692 377,192

At 1st April 2022, net of accumulated RZZ=—FNMA-H-
amortisation e: 24 373,692 317,192
A n E - 2,000

19,010 16,750 414,952
(19,010) (16,750) (35,960)

173




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR E IR

31st March 2023
—E-_=#=HA=+—H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 15. BEEE#®)
Customer Distribution Club
Goodwill relationships agreements membership Total
B RPBE Dl BEeR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THEL TiER TEL TiEx
31st March 2022 —T--F=A=1-H
At 31st March 2021 and RZE_—F=A=+-HkK
1st April 2021: —Z-—FmA-A:
Cost A 373,692 19,010 16,750 - 409,452
Accumulated amortisation Z5tEH - (19,010) (16,750) - (35,760)
Net carrying amount REFE 373,692 - - - 373,692

At 1st April 2021, net of accumulated RZZ=—-FWmA-A "

amortisation fal5E 373,692 - - - 373,692

Additions RE - - - 3,500 3,500

Net carrying amount FEEFE 373,692 - - 3,500 377,192
- ) At 31st March 2022: . RZT-ZF=A=t-R: - . -

2023
—EB=F
HK$’000
FET

373,692




15.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Hi-tech distribution and services operation cash-generating

unit

The recoverable amount of the hi-tech distribution and services
operation cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation using a pre-tax cash flow projection based
on a financial budget covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection was 13.1% (2022: 13.6%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the hi-tech distribution and services
operation cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period was 3%
(2022: 3%).

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculations of the hi-
tech distribution and services operation cash-generating unit for the
years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash

flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Distribution rights — The continuance of the distribution rights for the
hi-tech distribution and services operation in the foreseeable future

would not need any additional cost or investment.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is based on
past performance and management’s expectations for market

development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects

specific risks relating to the unit.
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15.

16.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Club membership

As at 31st March 2023, the Group’s club membership with a carrying
amount of HK$3,500,000 (2022: HK$3,500,000) has indefinite
useful life and will not be amortised until its useful life is determined

to be finite upon reassessment annually by management.

As at 31st March 2023, the Group’s club membership with a
carrying amount of HK$1,800,000 (2022: Nil) is amortised over the

useful life of 10 years using the straight-line method.

As at 31st March 2028, the fair value of the club memberships (by
reference to the quoted market prices less transfer fees) is above
its carrying amount and does not exceed its original cost before
impairment. No impairment loss was recognised during the current
year (2022: Nil).

The fair value of the club membership is classified as Level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various office properties,
warehouses and staff quarters for its operations. These leases
generally have lease terms between 2 and 6.5 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets

outside the Group.

15.

16.

BIEE W)
(eS¢

R-ZT-_=%F=F=+—8  AEBERAES
3,500,000/ c( =T = =4 : 3,500,000/%7T)
ZESReEAmRUFATEY  EEEEE
BFEHTHECHAUERAFHAGRENS
LTS -

R-ZT-_=%F=F=+—8  AEBERAES
1,800,000 (=2 == 4 : &) 2 B4 <e
BERAE SR 10 A {F A F A -

R-ZF_=F=A=1+—H  BEIFSEL
BE(R2Em: ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BNEBERMER 2RI o« AFE I EiE
RBRAEBE(ZT=—F : |) -

HE
REBEREEA

AEEREXBHREZERAENE BRER
BTIREEZHEAYN - ZEHE—RA/H2E
65F c —RME * ARETASERSER
SEUINZBEYE -
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EFEEREENEEEENDE

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEERREA(E)
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) FAREEE

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and rEEFERAEEEZERERFANEH
the movements during the year are as follows: T

Office properties,
warehouses and

staff quarters
MAEYE -
RERBIES
HK$'000

FHT

As at 1st April 2021 R-ZE-—FmMA—H 12,974

Additions NE 74,914

Depreciation charge ERX (17,967)
Exchange realignment B 54, B2 173

70,094
20,163
(22,954)

(1,172)




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR E IR

31st March 2023
—ET-_=—F=A=+—H

16. LEASES (Continued)

(b)

16. HE @)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEERRBEA(E)
Lease liabilities (b) HESRE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEAGZEEMERFREHAT -
during the year are as follows:
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHT
Carrying amount at beginning of year REYZRHEE 71,293 13,485
New leases e 20,163 74,914
Accretion of interest recognised during the year RS2 K| E3E0 3,491 1,047
Payments [E:N (22,569) (18,295)
Exchange realignment FE N A (1,185) 142
Carrying amount at end of year MNERZREEE 71,193 71,293

71,193
(52,737)

18,456



EFEEREENEEEENDE

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE @)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEERFEA(E

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases () NREZERAEEHEZSENAT :

are as follows:

2023 2022
—EBC=F —F-_—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET

Interest on lease liabilities HEABZHE

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREESEZNERS

Expenses relating to short-term leases and ARG EAT & R AR ER
other leases with remaining lease terms R=A=+—BZaKRIE
ended on or before 31st March ZEMAERR

Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIEBEANERZ B 20,379

L AR ER A B TS R R MY

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 27(d) to (d MHEZRE
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE @)
The Group as a lessor AEBEBHBEA
The Group leases certain of its plant and machinery and AEERBEZELEHETHHELE TR
demonstration machinery under operating lease arrangements. The BRI R T E#EE o 2SR E EEM
leases for these equipment are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 AN FAZE12EANE - AEBFRERZ
to 12 months. Rental income recognised by the Group during the & W A £35,049,0008 T (—ZF = =
year was HK$35,049,000 (2022: HK$37,614,000), details of which 37,614,000/87T) + A BAFFIBE R B SRR Mt
are included in note 5 to the financial statements. E5 e
At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease payments REREHR - AEBRARRBEREEEAS
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable F13 2 ZIB N A EUEHAE & M & 2 R AL IR E YR
operating leases are as follows: ER7T ¢
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

= 1,748 098
114




17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. ESZRBWREAREBEWRIER

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAxT
Trade receivables = G e 348,815 472,067
Less: Impairment of trade receivables R B S REEERE (6,797) (11,862)
342,018 460,205
Bills receivable =R 19,386 143,448
Less: Impairment of bills receivable i PR EIERIE (86) (819)
19,300 142,629
Trade and bills receivables, net (note (a)) B EIB M ERE - F5E
(FI=E @) 361,318 602,834
Finance lease receivables & S R GRIE 78,959 62,184
Less: Impairment of finance lease receivables & : Bi& & felt Z BRI E (609) (601)
Finance lease receivables, net (note (b)) BEHERUGRIE - SRR
GEA) 78,350 61,583
Less: Non-current portion* & BB D * (9,741) (11,2006)
Finance lease receivables, net, current portion @& FH & fEW R IEFEE - &)

(note (b)) 285 (FIaE (b)) 68,609 50,377
Prepayments TEFRIE 95,498 106,180
Other tax recoverable H b AT Y [0 77 18 26,032 34,622
Other receivables (note (c) E b MR (B 5E () 2,475 1,908
Rental and other deposits (note (c)) e kHMiRe (MiFE () 17,848 17,311

141,853 160,021
Less: Non-current portion* i IEmENEE D (9,557) (6,154)
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables,  FBfI5KIE - ¥4 & H b ek KIAE

net, current portion FEE RBHS 132,296 153,867
Total trade and other receivables, current B 5 e MR I B b e IR

portion B REBES 562,223 807,078
*Total trade and other receivables, non-current — * 2 5 & U 7k 18 Kz EAth e U 78

portion REE - ERBE;H 19,208 17,360
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(@)

Trade and bills receivables, net

The Group’s trading terms with its customers of hi-tech
distribution and services operation are mainly on letters of
credit or documents against payment, and in some cases
granting a credit period of 5 to 180 days. Payment in advance
is normally required. In respect of the Group’s operating
leasing operation, trade receivables are settled based on the
terms stipulated in the lease agreements. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. Since the Group’s trade and bills
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Except for
a trade receivable with a carrying amount of HK$12,975,000
which was fully covered by a deposit received, the Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements

over its trade and bills receivable balances.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

and bills receivables are as follows:

17. EZBWFHAREEWRIERE)

(a)

EZRUWFERERRE B8

REB SRR E MRS 3 RRB S
BERHEMTEEZKRREEZRERAELR
RERZE - mMENEFEEENF5H
Z180B TN EZEEH - —MRATEER
o mAEBMZEEREXEBME - B
5 EWGRIE TR AR M & 1 2% FTR] IR 2 5
FAER o RE B SSREH R 2 UL
FIBHFEBEEZEFNEEREEER
% o RAREIE S E AR A B R o
HRAEE 2 8 5 N8 R ERERE
HRAETRES  MAEEREFRZ
EERE - B TUEWIZS 284
ARTE{E A& 12,975,000 7 7T 2 B 5 e R
IBHN - REBIEFE 5 FEWGRIE R B
WS IR 4 AT A A AT 9 R L At 45 R
HA -

B 55 SRR I B S AR e (B S 1R 1
BT -

2023 2022

—E_-= -4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FABT

At beginning of year REY] 12,681 10,517
(Reversal of impairment)/ CmiE#E)

impairment losses, net HEEE  FE (5,798) 2,164

At end of year RER 6,883 12,681

The decrease (2022: increase) in the loss allowance was due
to the decrease in the gross carrying amount of trade and bills
receivables and the changes in expected credit loss rate with

reference to the change in the general economic environment.

BEREERD (ZF =4 - 3810) )ik
RE SRYANBRRE 2 REAE
WA RS ERRKERFEE M H AR
SEEERENBBME -
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17.

(@)

Trade and bills receivables, net (Continued)

An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, based on the

invoice date and net of loss allowance, as at the end of the

reporting period, is as follows:

B 5 BWRIAR 2R RIR (2)

(a)

EZRUWFEREWRRE - FHE(E)

MEREHIR - & 5 REIEE KRR EE
RBRZAHRNBEIEREER 2 RERD
MR :

2023 2022

—E-=F T —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

3 months or less =EAzAUAT 300,320 562,466
4 to 6 months PO =< fE A 32,866 15,198
7 to 9 months t=NM[EA 11,733 2,909
10 to 12 months +=+=-1@A 3,058 845
Over 12 months Ba+—EA 13,341 21,416
361,318 602,834

The Group has applied the simplified approach to provide for

impairment for ECLs, which included the use of the lifetime

expected loss provision for impairment of all trade receivables.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped

based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past

due.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17. EZEWFUR R H it EURIE ()
(a) Trade and bills receivables, net (Continued) (a) EZEWREREWEE FHEHE)
As at 31st March 2023 R=ZB=-=F=A=+—H
Past Due
BH

Current  1-90days  91-180days 181-270days 271-365 days 1-2years  Qver 2years Total

B 12908 O1Z180 181E20R 2MENRSA  -EWE  BERE i

Expected credit oss rate (%) BHEEEERMW 04 04 03 04 05 814 325 19

(Gross carying amount (HK$000) EHLE(TER) 192,503 101,802 20,483 11,153 3,389 216 19,209 348,815

Expected credit osses (HK$'000) EHEERR(TAT) 1% n 60 4 17 24 6,234 6,797

As at 31st March 2022 RZZ-_—F=A=+—8H
Past Due
o]

Curent 1-90days  91-180days  181-270days  271-365 days 1-2years  Over 2 years Total

EH 1EWR  OIEI0R  181Z208 MEMSE -ERE dERE &

Expected credit loss rate (%) REEEEEEY) 02 02 07 11 15 186 338 25

Gross carying amount (HK$000) FESE(TAT) 257911 163,129 15,198 2909 85 9431 20 644 472,067

Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEER(TEL) 570 39 102 % 13 1,757 9018* 11,862
e Included an impairment of HK$2,339,000 for a trade receivable * st AE 5 I WK IR 2 R B 2,339,000
which is assessed to be credit impaired by the Group. B ARERMEEBRBRAEER

A °

When applicable, an impairment analysis of bills receivable BEUIEREELFOMIE N 2 ERE
under HKFRS 9 is performed at each reporting date by BRES TR EREBHREEERAM
considering the probability of default from published credit ERFTRMEL TR MEREST (RDEA) -
rating. The probability of default applied ranged from 0.68% BE_T-=F=A=+—HIFE -
to 0.81% (2022: from 0.97% to 2.21%) and the loss given FrrEFR R Z 4RI s 14 5 0.68% £ 0.81%
default is estimated to be ranged from 59.1% to 63.6% (2022: (ZE==F :097%£E2.21%) ' ME
from 56.8% to 63.0%) for the year ended 31st March 2023. FTEABAREEA59.1%£E63.6% (=

T~ — 4 :56.8% £ 63.0%) °
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17.

(@)

(b)

Trade and bills receivables, net (Continued) (a)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills

receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

B 5 BWRAR A EWRIR (&)

EZRUWFEREWRRE - FHE(E)

AEEE 5 RWHEMERRE 2 RE

B TIIEEHE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Hong Kong dollar BT - 57
US dollar ET 84,146 125,126
RMB AR 113,589 140,033
Japanese Yen HE 163,049 334,898
Other currencies HEn gk 534 2,720
361,318 602,834
Finance lease receivables, net (b) WMEESERFIE FH
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAxT
Gross investment in finance leases BERERIEE 83,437 64,574
Less: Unearned finance lease income B RERERZ BB E U A (4,478) (2,390)
Present value of minimum lease W REEE2RE
amounts receivable 78,959 62,184
Less: Accumulated allowance for & - BREDRERE M (M)
impairment (note) (609) (601)
78,350 61,583
Less: Current portion i RENE D (68,609) (50,377)
Non-current portion ERBH D 9,741 11,206
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17. EZEWFUR R H it EURIE ()
(b) Finance lease receivables, net (Continued) (b) EEHEEEWFIE FHEE)
At 31st March 2023, there was no borrowing secured by RZZTZ=F=A=+—8 " BI&ERE
finance lease receivables (2022: HK$2,183,000) (note 23(a)). BELREHERKRB(ZE 25 :
2,183,000 7T ) {EHEAR (P 7 23(a)) »
Note: Bi%E
The Group has applied the general approach to measure ECLs for AEEBEA—MRAATEREHER KK
finance lease receivables. The Group has conducted an assessment HWBRBAEEESE - ASBEREAEEER
of ECLs according to forward-looking information and used an TR EEEE - YR EEHEEEE
appropriate model and assumptions in its measurement of ECLs. BrE AEEMEN RRE - ARAREEER
The assumptions included the future macroeconomic conditions and REARBISEMR R RERANEERL(DE
borrower’s creditworthiness (e.g., the likelihood of default by customers FEAMREERBREEBL) R=ZT==
and the corresponding losses). As at 31st March 2023, the probability F=ZA=+—H " FIERNENNAIREER
of default applied was 1.03% (2022: 1.70%) and the loss given default 1.03% (ZEZZF :1.70%) ' MBHED
was estimated to be 63.6% (2022: 63.0%). BARIEH63.6%(ZF=—4F : 63.0%) °
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BB E R WRIBERE 2 BEREE
finance lease receivables are as follows: W
2023 2022
—E_-= 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At beginning of year REY] 601 1,082
Impairment losses/(reversal of REETE, CRERE) - F58
impairment), net 8 (481)
At end of year RER 609 601
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17. ESEWFEREMEWRTIE &)

(b)

Finance lease receivables, net (Continued) (b)

Gross amounts and present values

The analysis of the Group’s gross investment in finance leases

and present value of minimum lease amounts receivable

under finance leases by relevant maturity groupings at the end

BMERERYRR - FHEE)

AL HLE

BB LBRERNRE AR BEE G
RED  AEBEZBEHERRE LR
BEREHERK REHESRESHTN

of the reporting period is as follows: N
Gross amounts Present values
BEHE BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=F —E__F —E-=F —E__F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET
Within one year —FR 73,367 53,107 68,609 50,377
After one year but not more than ~ —4E {4 B T HREME
two years 10,070 11,467 9,741 11,206
83,437 64,574 78,350 61,583

The carrying amounts of the Group’s finance lease receivables

AEEREREREFRZREELT

are denominated in the following currencies: HIEHEEHE
2023 2022
—E2=-= T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHT
RMB AR 78,350 61,583
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(c)

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed on
financial assets included in deposits and other receivables at
each reporting date by considering the probability of default
of comparable companies with published credit ratings. In the
situation where no comparable companies with credit ratings
can be identified, expected credit losses are estimated by a
loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss record
of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forward-looking information, as appropriate.
As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, the Group has concluded
that the probability of default and loss rate were low and the
financial impact of expected credit losses for deposits and
other receivables under HKFRS 9 was insignificant for the
years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022.

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default

and past due amounts.

At 31st March 2023, there is no borrowing secured by
deposits (2022: HK$2,046,000) (note 23(a)).

17. ESEWFEREMEWRTIE &)
() WEA - BESRELHNKRS REM
FEUGRERN S BEEETTRED T -
TR AZEAR AMERTRNT

B EARIRELN 2 ARk o TR
R EEFRM S U ELEORARIER
T EHEEEEERARRAEEXS
% WHREAEEE L EIBR e mET
st o BIEXRSERR - UARBREFER
RERAEEER (ER) - RZT==
ERZFEZZF=A=+—H ' ~&H
RAEHNAI R RBBXRE  mEzs
—E=FR-T-_—F=A=+—H
IEFE - BBEEBMBREERFE IR
Wik e & E b EW R IEN B (E B 518
WRERX o

EREEFALREBREFA S
# - BRI EE DR L

R-_ZE-_=F=A=+—8 ®EREE
i€ (—Z = =4 : 2,046,000/87T)
TEHHR (F1aE23(@@)) ©
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed equity investment, at fair value ETRAEE - BARE
Quoted investments, at fair value WERE  RAAE
Other investment, at fair value HigE - mAAE

The above investments mainly consist of investments in short-term
market fund and bond. They were classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as they were held for trading or their
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and

interest.

EFEEREENEEEENDE

=1

2023
—E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET

167 241
123,736 117,560
- 462

118,263

AT EREERTSEESRES - AR
HZERERFKEEEXHAGNRASREL IR
BYNAERMNE  SUEEDBREBAER
ANEHRZ ERERE

2023
—Eg==

HK$’000

FET



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 5 R 2R Y

31st March 2023
—ET-_=—F=A=+—H

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 20. RERRESEBEEURERES
DEPOSITS

2023 2022
—EB-=F -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFRES 217,866 336,504
Time deposits TEHFER 211,778 150,266
429,644 486,770

Less: Pledged deposits for securing 7 BRBRAORES 2 EfRe
performance bond (note 29) (FfFE29) (4,490) (1,275)
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFMEEE 425,154 485,495

At 31st March 2023, the effective interest rate on short-term bank

deposits was approximately 3.7% (2022: 1.1%) per annum. These

R-TBE-=F=ZA=+—8  EHETEZIZ
BERFENENEITE(ZE__F 11E) -




CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 20. BERBEEEEBEE URKRZRE @)
DEPOSITS (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following ReE R[S EFMEEE AT EREE :
currencies:
2023 2022
—ZE=-= 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHBT
Hong Kong dollar BIT 13,185 7,464
US dollar E 236,466 253,205
RMB AR 120,032 156,400
Japanese Yen HIEl 49,006 63,969
Other currencies HAbEHE 6,465 4,457
425,154 485,495
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of RBERR XEEUARKEFEZRE R
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$120,032,000 R1TA 82 A120,032,0008 T (= ==
(2022: HK$156,400,000). The RMB is not freely convertible 156,400,000 7T) - ARBTAIEHERA
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign HMEH - A - BRA R SNEE IR 1§
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, BILA R A5FE - BIERMNEFTERRE - ANEEE
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is B REREETINEER 2 RITHARKE R
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks BMAEHMER o

authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR E IR

31st March 2023
—ET-_=—F=A=+—H

21.

SHARE CAPITAL

(@) Share capital of the Company

21. BA&

(@) AATRE

Ordinary shares Preference shares
EER BxR
Number Ordinary Number Preference
of shares share capital of shares share capital Total
Rt#A EERRAK RAHE BARBRK Eh
Notes 000 HK$000 '000 HK$000 HK$'000
i3 Th TR TH TER TR
Authorised: AT
At 1st April 2021, 31st March RZE--4WA-H-
2022, 15t April 2022 and 31st i Sy ol
March 2023 “Z-ZEMA-BR
- HKS0.1 each ZRZESA=T-B

3,000,000




21.

(a)

Notes:

(i)

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Share capital of the Company (Continued)

On 13th May 2021, the Company completed an open
offer of one offer share for every five existing shares of the
Company held by qualifying shareholders at a subscription
price of HK$0.71 per offer share (the “Open Offer”) and
a total of 54,516,161 offer shares were issued at a total
cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
HK$38,707,000. Upon the completion of the Open Offer,
the share capital and share premium were increased
by approximately HK$5,452,000 and HK$33,255,000,
respectively. The related expenses charged to share premium
account amounted to approximately HK$2,411,000. Details of
the Open Offer were disclosed in the Company’s circular dated
21st April 2021 and the results of the Open Offer were set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 12th May 2021.

On 1st December 2021, the Company placed 70,852,000 new
shares to certain independent placees at a price of HK$0.6 per
share, pursuant to a placing agreement dated 22nd November
2021. The premium on the issue of shares, amounting to
approximately HK$32,776,000 after deducting the related
issuance cost and expenses, was credited to the Company’s
share premium account. Details of the placing agreement
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 22nd
November 2021 and the results of the placing were set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 1st December 2021.

21. RAE (@)
(@) ARFREE)
Fifst -
0] RZTE-_—FREA+=H"  AAF
TREAERRREFERRAR

(i
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AIRAERNERSE —REERHZ
EEURBESRBEERMKB071E
TETZARZE(AREE])
& 3£54,516,161 R & E R H B # %
T BRSREGIKRERA) QA
38,707,000 7T - TR AREEE -
AR B B 3 55 1B 5 B3 N4y 5,452,000
7870 % 33,255,000 7T © 5T ARK D i
BAR 2 R 49/2,411,0004 7T °
BRARBEZFBERENAREA
AT -_—FNA-_+—HZ®
B AR ARBE 2 ERFNARA
HHA—Z-_—&FRA+-—BHzAE-

R-ZTBE-_—F+=-F—8 ' AQFIHE
BEBA-Z-_—F+—A=+=H
ZREHREIETRO6ETRE TB
SRR A B & 70,852,000 A& FT AL 1D
B ATIR 19 2 & {8 932,776,000 7% 7T
CGIRBEEZEITRARERE)BFTA
RARZBRDRER - AARSHHE
ZHBRERARARIRS AT = —
F+—A-+-BA2RA% UREE
ZHEEHRARRAHA-_T_—F
+=—A—BzR%-



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b)

Share options of the Company

On 4th September 2014, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the “2014
Scheme”). Under the terms of the 2014 Scheme, the Board
may at its discretion offer share options to any employee,
agent, consultant or representative of the Company or any
subsidiary, including any executive or non-executive director
of the Company or any subsidiary or any other person whom
the Board considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed or
will contribute to the Group (the “Participants”). The principal
purpose of the 2014 Scheme is to reward the Participants
who have contributed or will contribute to the Group and
to encourage the Participants to work towards enhancing
the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The 2014
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years

commencing on the adoption date.

21.

IR (4)

(b)

RARERE

RZE-—MOFEARMA - ARABKRE
#E R AR B R 8 ([ —F —mF&f
g RE_F-MOFFAI 2GR &
EFEARBRAARRRIFAMELRZ
EHEE - K2 BRmKE  8FE
FEREBHRBHEBHAKEIELE
BB EH R A A RSB
B2 EfARITRIFMITE R RIEME A
AL (2EEDELBEERE - —F—0
FHETEE A RBEAEEEHAR
FEL BB 2 28E - YESEE
UARRREBRR 2 ERFERBR
BHRAARRARRERNZEE —F
—OFEFEI R AR AR
e
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21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 21, B&#)

(b)  Share options of the Company (Continued) (b) ZAELTEREE)
The movement in the number of share options outstanding mARITEE 2 BERR SN B # B R E AR N
and their related weighted average exercise price are as EEITTEBELT
follows:

Weighted average

exercise price Number of
per share share options
SR EF 1T
IEE BREHE
HK$
PETT
As at 1st April 2021 R-ZE-—FMH—H 0.98 14,931,200
Adjusted upon open offer AHRARERARE = 165,533
Exercised during the year FRITEE 0.74 (27,176,345)
Granted during the year FARD 0.73 31,008,000
As at 31st March 2022 and RZBE-_—_F=A=+—HK
1st April 2022 — - —FpA—H 0.87 18,928,388
Granted during the year FERIFH 0.33 32,652,000
Exercised during the year FRITE 0.33 (29,384,000)
As at 31st March 2023 RZTE==%=A=+—H 0.79 22,196,388
The weighted average closing price at the date of exercise for BHEZZ-=F=A=+—HIEFERN
share options exercised during the year ended 31st March 1718 2 AR A 1T B 2R 9 N 39 UL
2023 was HK$0.30 per share (2022: HK$0.84 per share). MEABRKROIOEBL(ZE=_—F:
#%0.84 %7T) °
The exercise price and exercise period of the share options RER + MARITHE 2 BRENITHEER
outstanding as at the end of the year are as follows: FTEERZATE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

21.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) Share options of the Company (Continued)

As at 31st March 2023

Number of options

Exercise price*

21, BA&#)

(b) ARFBIREE)

R=B=-=%=ZA=+—8

Exercise period

BRERE TEE TEH
HK$ per share
SR
7,404,388 1.14 16th August 2017 — 15th August 2027
—E—+tFNA+ANAE=E=_tF/\A+HA
11,524,000 0.70 24th December 2021 — 23rd December 2031
TR+ AFHBEE_T=—%F+_H
—+=H
3,268,000 0.33 7th November 2022 — 6th November 2032
—E -+ —AtHEZE=_"F1+—HAKH
22,196,388

As at 31st March 2022

Number of options

Exercise price*

R-_E-_—F=A=+—H

Exercise period

BREHE 1TfEE™ g
HK$ per share
BRRATT
7,404,388 1.14 16th August 2017 — 15th August 2027
—E—+FN\A+ANBEZZ=tFNA+THA
11,524,000 0.70 24th December 2021 — 23rd December 2031
- Ft- A TWHHE=T=—F1+=A
—+=H
18,928,388
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment * B R i 2 1T (B m] A (R AR Sk AT AR 3% 1T

in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes
in the Company’s share capital.
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21.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b)

Share options of the Company (Continued)

During the year ended 31st March 2023, the fair value of the
share options granted on 7th November 2022, determined
using a binomial model, was approximately HK$961,000.
The Group had recognised a share option expense of
HK$961,000 during the year ended 31st March 2023. During
the year ended 31st March 2022, the fair values of the share
options granted on 18th June 2021 and 24th December
2021, determined using a binomial model, were approximately
HK$8,367,000 and HK$730,000, respectively. The Group had
recognised a share option expense of HK$9,097,000 during
the year ended 31st March 2022.

The fair values of equity-settled share options granted during
the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022 were determined
as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the share
options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to

the model used:

21.

IR (4)

(b)

Share options
granted on 18th
June 2021 2021
R-B=-%
AATNE
Riti 2 BRE

RAREREE)

BE_T_=—#F#=ZA=+—81t#F
E - UNZBEAEXEER -4
T—RAtEREZEBREAALBENR
961,000/ 8T - AEEERBE_T
—=FZ A=+ AT ERERERE
961,000 - HE-_T-_—F=
A=+—HALFE  A=ZBEAEXEE
RZEZ—FRATN\BRZZE=—F
TZAZTHBREZEREARED
Bl #)48,367,0007% 7T & 730,000/ 7T ©
AEEERBEZZE__F=HA=+—
A 1 5[5 7 R 08 I i A 2 9,097,000 78
-

RBE_Z_=FK_ZF__%=H
=+ RIFFERBZAREEE 2B
ez AR ERR LD BER ZENE
AET - WEZRERK L BREZ HEX
R Ageth o TRIIRMERBZEA ZBAR
% :
Share options Share options
granted on
24th December

granted on
7th November
2022
RZZ=ZF
+—AtH

R BB E

R-B--%§
+ZA=+WMAE
B2 BRE

Expected dividend yield (%) TEHARL B 2SR (%)

Expected volatility (%) TRHIRIE (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) ERRAE (%)
Exercise multiple (times) TEEE ()

0.000 0.000 0.000
71.913 72.564 73.844
1.354 1.512 4.422

2.80 1.10 1.10
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

21. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b)

Share options of the Company (Continued)

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also

not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the share options granted was

incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
22,196,388 share options outstanding under the 2014
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 22,196,388 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of
HK$2,220,000 and share premium of HK$15,315,000 (before
issue expenses). At the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Company had 22,196,388 share options
outstanding under the 2014 Scheme, which represented
approximately 4.9% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
the date.

21.

IR (4)

(b)

RAREREE)

TEHAR R R BB 1R R AR KB E 2 38
BRZRR - AT —ERBRAER o

RETAREER - WERERE
R 2 B o

RIFERR - AARR =T —FHE
T8 N7 22,196,388 17 i AT FEARAE o
BEBEARABEREARE  Z5ER
R THE B EBA QR BITEIN
22,196,388 i% & @ A% - %8 512,220,000
7 7T X K K 15,315,000 3 7T A% 19 )i &
(BREATHRZAT) - RELEL SR
B ARRR T —MEFEIET
5 22,196,388 17 iM RTTE BB AR AE - 15K
EHBARRBEEITRNA4.9% °
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22. RESERVES 22, f#fE

Share Cumulative
Share Contributed option translation Retained
premium surplus reserve adjustments profits Total
RAEE BARG BRERE  ZithEE REEH ]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
ThL T T Thr ThE ThI
(note)
(M)
Balances at 1st April 2021 R-E--EMA-HzER 136,369 956,292 817 4,6% 112,336 1,217,809
Proft for the year EREF - - - - 79,793 79,793
Currency translation differences of foreign  E5MER v SH A E 28
operations - - - 17177 - 17,177
Total comprehensive income for the year M2 ENE £ - - - 17177 79,793 96,970
Open offer (note 21(a)) AREE (HE21)) 33255 - - - - 33255
Openofer expenses ote 216i) ~ ABZEER (HEE21a) 041) - - - - p41)
Placing of new shares (note 21(a)() FEATRA (HEE21()) 3,776 - - - - 32,176
Share options exercised (note 21(6) ~ ETEERIE(HEE21(0) 20,865 - (3.431) - - 17434
Eauity-setlled share-based ransactions ~ JESEERURAHFZR S
(note 21(0) (FizE21() - - 9,097 - - 9,097
Balances at 31st March 2022 and R-E-—#=A=+-HR
1st April 2022 “E-_EMR-ArE% 220,854 956,292 13,783 21,872 192,129 1,404,930
Profit for the year FRigH) - - - - 1,088 1,088
Qurrency translation iferences of foreign  B/NE75 7 S 4 E 25
operations - - - (23,704) - (23,704)
Total comprehensive loss for theyear — £R2EEEAE - - - (23,704) 1,088 (22,616)
Share options exercised (note 216) ~ BTEERIE (HE21(0) 6,611 - - - - 6,611
Equity-settled share-based transactions ~ LEREERHRGRFRS
ote 211) (H21p) - - %1 - - %1
Balances at 31st March 2023 RoB-=F=A=T-Hz&& 227,465 956,292 14,744 (1,832 193,217 1,389,886
Note: FfsE -
Cumulative translation adjustments RAitERER
The cumulative translation adjustments represent cumulative foreign exchange RETHE K AR ERBIRINER 2 B HRERTE
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of operations £ Z RETINEEEE - THIRBM B RK M FE2.30 Frd
outside Hong Kong which are dealt with in accordance with the accounting BREINERE 2 SEBURRIE ©

policy for foreign currency translation as set out in note 2.30 to the financial
statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 F %}




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

23. OTHER BORROWINGS 23. Hftufg &
2023 2022
ZECzE —EC
Effective Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 | interest rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BRI (%) L TEn ERAE (%) 3I5A TR
Other loans - sectred BHARMES NARER NARER - 6.36 2021-2022 2,158
Other loans - secured 2EREMET 4 2021-2023 1,800 7.4 2021-2023 13,111
1,800 15,269
Portion classiied as curent iabilties A EAZEEEZ S5 (1,800) (13,326)
Non-current portion E S - 1,943
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAxT
Analysed into: PaR)iv=1E

Within one year or on demand —FAHIREK 1,800 13,326
In the second year F_F - 1,943
1,800 15,269

Notes: FI5E -

(a) As at 31st March 2023, no other borrowing (2022: HK$2,158,000)
was secured by the Group’s finance lease receivables (2022:
HK$2,183,000) (note 17(b)) and deposits (2022: HK$2,046,000) (note
17(c)).

(b) As at 31st March 2023, the Group’s other borrowings of HK$1,800,000
(2022: HK$13,111,000) were secured by the Group’s property, plant
and equipment of HK$9,822,000 (2022: HK$15,269,000) (note 13).

() As at 31st March 2023, the Group’s other borrowings of
HK$1,800,000 (2022: HK$15,269,000) were denominated in RMB.

R-ZE_=F=A=+—H BEEMEE
(ZZ=—% :2,158,000/8 ) AL EEHHE

(H3E17(b) 324 (=T = — 4 : 2,046,000
L) (3T 17(c)) R -

RZE_=F=A=+—H ' "EEHMLE
51,800,000 (= ZF = =4 : 13,111,000
L) AR E B -« BB K& & 9,822,000
BT (=T = =4 : 15,269,000/ 7T ) (i &E
13) R o

R-TE-_=F=ZA=1+—8 ' "EBEME
£1,800,000/8 7T ( —=Z = = : 15,269,000
BIT) AARKEHE ©
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and bills payables (note (a))
Accrual for operating expenses
Receipts in advance

Contract liabilities (note (b))
Deposits received (note 26)
Other payables

Notes:

4

B HRMNRARENER (K@)

REB R Z RIS
AW HOR

& HBE (M o)
Blidze (5 26)
HARE (- 3RIH

() The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables, based on the invoice

date, is as follows:

EFEEREENEEEENDE

24. BSEMNRERAEMENRE

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FET

292,885
77,746
1,496
154,128
3,795
23,584

BfRE

2022

—=

HK$'000
THET

508,141
114,601
3,200
939,826
10,407
22,299

1,598,474

@ EBZENFERENRERERAHZRER

Faxiin CNE

2023
—EB-=HF
HK$’000
FET

250,613
21,799
1,321
2,348
16,804




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
—E-_=F=A=+—H

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(@) (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the trade and bills payables are denominated
in the following currencies:

24, BEZRNGFEREMEMSTIE @)

st - (&)

@

BIRNFELENZENREETIA TS
BEAHE

2023 2022
—EC-=HF T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Hong Kong dollar ow 5,346 3,109
US dollar E 46,175 96,327
RMB AR 67,488 55,246
Japanese Yen H 171,359 340,659
Other currencies Hi g 2,517 12,800
Total st 292,885 508,141
(o)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: ) EHEEZFBEET :

31st March 31st March 1st April
2023 2022 2021
—E-=F T F — T —F
=A=+—8 =A=+—A” mA—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FHAIT

Short-term advances received from AP YR ey T B3t %

customers

Sale of goods HERm 154,128 939,826 971,403

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from
customers to deliver goods and render services. The decrease in
contract liabilities during the year ended 31st March 2023 was mainly
due to the recognition of contract liabilities as revenue during the
current year. The decrease in contract liabilities during the year ended
31st March 2022 was mainly due to the decrease in short-term
advances received from customers in relation to the sale of machinery

at the end of the year.

SRR ERERE P Y MEmRR
HERBZERABR - BE_T_=F=4
=+—BLEFENEGNRERSTERRA
FERAHNABRAREA -BE-_T——
FZA=ZT-ALEFENGHNRERITIE
F PO ARt 8 B M 25 1 1) 2 P UG R B A2 ER 24

3
TR o
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25. DEFERRED TAX 25. EEBIE

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences under the liability
method using the applicable tax rates which are expected to apply

at the time of reversal of the temporary differences.

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities), without taking
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax

jurisdiction, are as follows:

BERBEDREE EERBERNE DT =E
RNERZERNERERZRAE -

I EE B AR NG DA E E RN SRR
T BRERBEE (AR ZBBHMT :

Impairment
loss allowance
against trade
Accelerated and other Provision for

tax depreciation receivables inventories Total
B RHM
RS EREZ

il AEEREE FERR @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT THT TAT TAT

At 1st April 2021 W-Z-——€mA-A (685) 2,703 191 2,209

Deferred tax credited to the statement  FRIMBES R NET A ZIELE

(1,324) (1,324)

1,736 1,242



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

25.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

As at 31st March 2023, the Group had unrecognised deferred
tax assets of HK$6,736,000 (2022: HK$6,159,000), primarily
representing the tax effect of cumulative tax losses (subject to
agreement by relevant tax authorities) which can be carried forward
indefinitely. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be

utilised.

Pursuant to the enterprise income tax law of the PRC, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1st January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31st December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1st January 2008.

As at 31st March 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$176,876,000 (2022: HK$151,340,000). In
the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute these unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes in the foreseeable future.

25.

IESEBLIA (4)

RZZZ=F=A=+—H ' ~EBZKER
FIEFIBE E56,736,0008L (Z T =4 ¢
6,159,000/ 7T) * = B2 BIEEE (ALK
HEARBRERE) 2HBTE  ZoHAE
FREAAEE - AN EEIBREE —REMGE
EiEZHBAT - BRATAA AR EERE
ALK SR B 1R - MO L 2 S SRR
BIEFRIHAE ©

RIFFBDEMAEEE - RPBEAMRLZ SN
BERERABIMNREETIRZREBHMH10%
TBINF - ZIEREH_TZT/\F—A—HiRE
BEBERR—_FTLF T _A=1t—"BREL
ZER] o i B A B SMR & E P BDA
EERITANERE  BREARE R
BB E - AKEME - BRARERE% K
10% ° Eith - AREAAE /R EAMAKL
ZWBARSA —ETEN\F—A—HBELZ
EFIREE 2 BB B TR o

RZZEZ=F=A=+—8 ' ERFRBERNMH
BARZEERB TR EHEAE Y RERE
ERHIEEEREE A% 176,876,000/8 L (==
151,340,000 7T) - EERAE © #%
ZHTB A AR A B AR AT 885 K% S /A AR
TEHHE 2 AREE HBF) o
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EFEEREENEEEENDE

26. DEPOSITS RECEIVED

2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAxT

Deposits received from lessees BREBA RS 6,359
Less: Current portion (note 24) & mEE D (MiaE24) (3,795)

Non-current portion ERBHD 1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  27. GR&HR&EREBRMEE
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions FEFBRERS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to FRN - AEBBBEHAENE REK
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$20,163,000 ETIRAHER 2 FREEEREE
(2022: HK$74,914,000) and HK$20,163,000 (2022: BEZIEHEESARE D B A20,163,000




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 27. SZAeBRE&REXRME &)
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) BEMELAZRERE

(b) Cash flows from operations

BRATS T AT G M AR 2R B T E A 2 R
EREFEIHR

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flows

from operating activities:

2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHIT
Profit before income tax BRFT1SEL AT @ Al 4,551 108,662
Adjustments for: FE
Finance income BRI (5,950) (2,398)
Finance costs MEER 4,288 2,224
Gain on disposal of financial assets at HEZRAAEFABEZ SR
fair value through profit or loss B E 2 Was - (1,023)
Changes in fair value of financial assets ~ RAAREARBRZ £ RIEE
at fair value through profit or loss ZAREEE (2,167) (15)
Interest income of financial assets at fair ~ ZAREFABREZ S REE
value through profit or loss Z BN (839) -
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BEMRETE
equipment 37,401 41,925
Depreciation of investment properties REMENE 5,050 2,561
Amortisation of intangible assets mR A R 200 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEERE 22,954 17,967
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEYE  BERZEBEE Z
property, plant and equipment, net (Wz5) 518 - JBEE (173) 153
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of Z 5 EWGRE K B E
trade and bills receivables, net CRIER®E) RfE @ SF5E (5,798) 2,164
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of BETRE UK E,
finance lease receivables, net CRUERS[E) - JF58 8 (481)
Equity-settled share options expenses VARG HE#E S 2 BB AR E R 2 961 9,097
Exchange gain on financial assets at fair ~ IRAAEEABRZ SR
value through profit or loss BB 2 HNE W (231) (1,156)
60,255 179,680
Decrease in inventories FERD 775,516 151,492
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other B 5 WG TE K& E e GRIAE
receivables ‘A (35hn) 248,818 (325,840
Decrease in trade and other payables B S R0E Rk E M E FRIE
N (1,044,464) (258,073)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operations &4EFFESE  (EH) 2R ERE
pez-i) 40,125 (252,741)
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EFEEREENEEEENDE

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 27.
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

REBRSREBRMETE @)

() MEEFDELZAEED

Lease liabilities Other borrowings

HESE HitgE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

At 1st April 2021 R-ZE-—FMA—H 18,485 6,834

Changes from financing cash flows RMERSREZS) (17,248) 8,435
Interest paid classified as operating PEREERSRENENFE

cash flows (1,047) =

New leases e 74,914 -

Interest expenses FexZH 1,047 -

Foreign exchange movement HINEE B 142 -

At 31st March 2022 and 1st April 2022

R-E-_—F=A=+—HkK
T FMA—H

71,293
(19,078)

(3,491)

20,163
3,491
(1,185)

15,269
(13,469)

71,193




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

27.

28.

29,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 27. GR&RE&ERERMZE (@)
CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) HEZBESHREHAEH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of RemERMEAE 2R HBRED
cash flows is as follows: N
2023 2022
—EC-=F B _F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fix FHT
Within operating activities ETEBNA 4,095 1,365
Within financing activities BEEBA 19,078 17,248
23,173 18,613
BANKING FACILITIES 28. SRITALE
As at 31st March 2023, the Group had banking facilities of RZZE—_=F=A=+—H A5£EREE
HK$870,268,000 (2022: HK$876,084,000) from several banks T $B 17 2 8 17 @l & 870,268,000% 7T ( —
for trade financing. As at 31st March 2023, banking facilities of — —%F : 876,084,000/ 7T ) T’H%fﬁ%mﬂﬁ o
HK$147,350,000 (2022: HK$279,776,000) were utilised by the RZZE-_=F=A=+—H A£EEHH
Group. 147,350,000 70 (=T = =4 : 279,776,000
BIT) ZIRITRLE ©
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 20. HAREE
As at 31st March 2023, pledged deposits of HK$4,490,000 RZE-_=F=ZA=+—80 K#fEs

(2022: HK$1,275,000) were held as security at a bank in respect
of performance bonds in favour of certain contract customers.
The guarantees given by the Group to certain banks in respect of
performance bonds and a standby letter of credit in favour of certain
contract customers and a supplier amounted to HK$61,303,000
(2022: HK$58,151,000).

4,490,000/ (=T = =4 : 1,275,000/ L)

ERMETENEPEGZBAORISNIRITHE
1B - AEBEREREETEORPR—M
HEDESZEORESRERERRAET
SRITIR 1R 61,303,000 T (T ==
58,151,000787T)
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30. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 30. BEAREE

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the AEBRIRERREUTERRIE :
reporting period:

2023 2022
—E-=F —FE-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHIT
Contracted, but not provided for: EHEEER G
Acquisition of a business WHE R 13,188 =
31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31. HBEEALTZRS
Key management compensation of the Group AEEFTEEEAESMES
The key management compensation of the Group other than the RAFE AEBFTEEEAB(EEHRIN)
directors for the year is as follows: ZBEanT
2023 2022
= = : : N N = —E-=HF - T F = —

HK$’000
FET

6,719
189

36




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DIE R

31st March 2023
T =F=A=+—H

32.

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

All financial assets of the Group as at 31st March 2023 and 2022
were financial assets at amortised cost except for financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss as detailed in note 18 to the financial

statements.

All financial liabilities of the Group were financial liabilities at

amortised cost.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 21st December 2022, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “SPA”) pursuant to which: (a) a vendor (the
“Vendor”) agrees to sell, and the Group agrees to purchase 100%
of the issued shares of a target company (the “Target Company”);
and (b) the Vendor agrees to sell, and the Group agrees to purchase
all the technology and intellectual property assigned to the Target
Company according to the SPA and the amount due to the
Vendor from the Target Company as at the completion date of the
acquisition, for an initial consideration of US$2,400,000 (equivalent
to HK$18,840,000), subject to adjustments according to terms of
the SPA. The acquisition was completed on 3rd April 2023.

Details of the transactions are set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 21st December 2022.

32.

33.

RERE S zERMT A

A2 & A BB SHAE
R TS R M R 18 PRI 2 B 2 A0 (A A
BRI EMEERID -

AEENMEERABARBENATEZS
BAE-

BEHRER

RZBZZF+=-A=+—H AEHEGTL
EERZ(EZHAE]D Bl :-@BH(E
FREHEMASEREEERZARE
BERAR ) BBEITRMNZ2100% : KbO)E S5
EREMASEREEELREEEaETH
EAR 2 2B R AN E E A R E AR U
FESER AEE B IZ AR Z A - I RER
2,400,000 7t (A855 747 18,840,000 7 7T.)

WAlE B B A IER T ARE - ZBREER
“E-=FA=HEKX °

R HHBEER AN BHA-—ZT—_—F+—H
==l
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34.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34.

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

R BB AR R

ARRNIRERR A BARRAR 2EROT -

2023 2022
—Eg;-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IEREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B AR Z&’E 746,898 760,019
Deposit e 5,612 =
752,510 760,019
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H b EUGRIE 2,646 2,774
Amount due from a subsidiary FE Uk —FEI M8 A BIFRIE 1,307 1,018
Cash and cash equivalents RERIAEEEER 16,665 4,857
20,618 8,649
Total assets EEHAE 773,128 768,668
EQUITY fE=
Share capital A&7 45,450 42,512
Reserves (note) &t () 726,717 725,209
Total equity AR 772,167 767,721
LIABILITIES afE
Current liability RENEE
Other payables H b pE {508 961 947
961 947
Total equity and liabilities BEREEEHE 773,128 768,668
Net current assets REBEETE 19,657 7,702
Total assets less current liability BEELAERADERS 772,167 767,721
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34. ARFMBMRRER E)

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Ffi5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARE 2 FERENAT ¢
Share Contributed Share Accumulated
premium surplus option reserve losses Total
RAEE BB BRERE RHEA ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TiEn FHL FiEn TiEx
Balances at 1st April 2021 RZB--FMA—-Bz&H 136,369 956,292 8,117 (445,134) 655,644
Loss for the year and total FRBERFRZERRER
comprehensive loss for the year - - - (20,586) (20,586)
Open offer (note 21(a)(}) RREE (HzE21()) 33,255 - - - 33,055
Open offer expenses (note 21(a)() ~ ARZEBA (HzE21()() 2,411) - - - 2411)
Placing of new shares (note 21(alfl)  AZEfER(D (FifE21(a)i) 32,776 - - - 32,776
Share options exercised (note 21(0) B {76RERME (K 21(b) 20,865 - (3431) - 17,434
Equity-settled share-based NESEERIABRDARRS
transactions (note 21(o)) (HE21(0)) - - 9,097 - 9,007

(471,784)
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